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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q

(Mark One)

xQUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF
1934

For the quarterly period ended April 30, 2016

or

¨TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF
1934

For the transition period from              to             .

Commission File Number: 001-36121

Veeva Systems Inc.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware 20-8235463
(State or other jurisdiction of

incorporation or organization)

(IRS Employer

Identification No.)
4280 Hacienda Drive
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Pleasanton, California 94588

(Address of principal executive offices)

(925) 452-6500

(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code)

N/A

(Former name, former address and former fiscal year, if changed since last report)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was
required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.    Yes  x    No  ¨

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if
any, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T
(§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required
to submit and post such files).    Yes  x    No  ¨

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer,
or a smaller reporting company. See definitions of “large accelerated filer”, “accelerated filer” and “smaller reporting
company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act:

Large accelerated filer x Accelerated filer ¨

Non-accelerated filer ¨ (Do not check if a smaller reporting company) Smaller reporting company ¨
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange
Act).    Yes  ¨    No  x

As of May 27, 2016, there were 96,768,253 shares of the Registrant’s Class A common stock outstanding and
37,996,223 shares of the Registrant’s Class B common stock outstanding.
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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This report contains forward-looking statements that are based on our beliefs and assumptions and on information
currently available to us. Forward-looking statements include information concerning our possible or assumed future
results of operations and expenses, business strategies and plans, trends, market sizing, competitive position, industry
environment and potential growth opportunities and product capabilities, among other things. Forward-looking
statements include all statements that are not historical facts and, in some cases, can be identified by terms such as
“anticipates,” “believes,” “could,” “estimates,” “expects,” “intends,” “may,” “plans,” “potential,” “predicts,” “projects,” “seeks,” “should,” “will,”
“would,” “tracking to,” “on track” or similar expressions and the negatives of those terms.

Forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our
actual results, performance or achievements to be materially different from any future results, performance or
achievements expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements, including those described in “Risk Factors,”
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and elsewhere in this report.
Given these uncertainties, you should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements.

Any forward-looking statement made by us in this report speaks only as of the date on which it is made. Except as
required by law, we disclaim any obligation to update these forward-looking statements publicly, or to update the
reasons actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements, even if new
information becomes available in the future.

As used in this report, the terms “Veeva,” “Registrant,” “we,” “us,” and “our” mean Veeva Systems Inc. and its subsidiaries
unless the context indicates otherwise.
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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1.Financial Statements.
VEEVA SYSTEMS INC.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands, except number of shares and par value)

April 30,
January
31,

2016 2016
(Unaudited)

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 245,942 $132,179
Short-term investments 211,493 214,024
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $337 and $413,

   respectively 81,776 144,798
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 9,163 9,963
Total current assets 548,374 500,964
Property and equipment, net 47,659 47,469
Capitalized internal-use software, net 969 979
Goodwill 95,804 95,804
Intangible assets, net 45,446 47,500
Deferred income taxes, noncurrent 9,865 9,359
Other long-term assets 3,675 3,724
Total assets $ 751,792 $705,799

Liabilities and stockholders’ equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 4,630 $4,600
Accrued compensation and benefits 11,894 12,451
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 8,045 11,059
Income tax payable 1,753 750
Deferred revenue 180,776 157,419
Total current liabilities 207,098 186,279
Deferred income taxes, noncurrent 10,287 10,622
Other long-term liabilities 3,861 3,649
Total liabilities 221,246 200,550
Commitments and contingencies (Note 12)
Stockholders’ equity:
Class A common stock, $0.00001 par value; 800,000,000 shares authorized, 1 1

Edgar Filing: VEEVA SYSTEMS INC - Form 10-Q

5



   96,341,558 and 87,359,026 issued and outstanding at April 30, 2016 and

   January 31, 2016, respectively
Class B common stock, $0.00001 par value; 190,000,000 shares authorized,

   38,047,403 and 46,186,159 issued and outstanding at April 30, 2016 and

   January 31, 2016, respectively — —
Additional paid-in capital 374,192 361,691
Accumulated other comprehensive income 459 172
Retained earnings 155,894 143,385
Total stockholders’ equity 530,546 505,249
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 751,792 $705,799

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

1
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VEEVA SYSTEMS INC.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(In thousands, except per share data)

For the three months
ended

April 30,
2016 2015
(Unaudited)

Revenues:
Subscription services $96,032 $68,894
Professional services and other 23,732 21,029
Total revenues 119,764 89,923
Cost of revenues(1):
Cost of subscription services 21,745 15,873
Cost of professional services and other 19,346 16,112
Total cost of revenues 41,091 31,985
Gross profit 78,673 57,938
Operating expenses(1):
Research and development 22,073 12,957
Sales and marketing 26,723 15,496
General and administrative 12,071 8,560
Total operating expenses 60,867 37,013
Operating income 17,806 20,925
Other income, net 2,747 763
Income before income taxes 20,553 21,688
Provision for income taxes 8,044 8,706
Net income $12,509 $12,982

Net income attributable to Class A and Class B common stockholders,

   basic and diluted $12,505 $12,964
Net income per share attributable to Class A and Class B common stockholders:
Basic $0.09 $0.10
Diluted $0.09 $0.09
Weighted-average shares used to compute net income per share attributable to Class A

   and Class B common stockholders:
Basic 133,996 131,163
Diluted 145,708 144,734
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Net change in unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale investments $174 $(3 )
Net change in cumulative foreign currency translation gain (loss) 113 (8 )
Comprehensive income $12,796 $12,971
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(1)

Includes stock-based compensation as follows:

Cost of revenues:
Cost of subscription services $209 $111
Cost of professional services and other 1,178 742
Research and development 2,394 1,383
Sales and marketing 2,455 1,120
General and administrative 1,907 1,443
Total stock-based compensation $8,143 $4,799

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

2
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VEEVA SYSTEMS INC.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)

For the three months
ended

April 30,
2016 2015
(Unaudited)

Cash flows from operating activities
Net income $12,509 $12,982
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 3,405 1,024
Amortization of premiums on short-term investments 420 763
Stock-based compensation 8,143 4,799
Deferred income taxes (838 ) —
Bad debt recovery (205 ) (7 )
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable 63,227 23,536
Income taxes 380 2,862
Prepaid expenses and other current and long-term assets 1,390 33
Accounts payable 66 (760 )
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities (2,905 ) (1,336 )
Deferred revenue 23,357 (2,197 )
Other long-term liabilities 411 92
Net cash provided by operating activities 109,360 41,791
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of short-term investments (67,740 ) (100,837)
Maturities and sales of short-term investments 70,025 47,744
Purchases of property and equipment (2,057 ) (4,710 )
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired — (9,987 )
Capitalized internal-use software development costs (140 ) (22 )
Changes in restricted cash and deposits (6 ) 1
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 82 (67,811 )
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from early exercise of common stock options — 8
Proceeds from exercise of common stock options 1,345 1,162
Restricted stock units acquired to settle employee tax withholding liability (1 ) (4 )
Excess tax benefits from employee stock plans 2,861 3,169
Net cash provided by financing activities 4,205 4,335
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 116 (7 )
Net change in cash and cash equivalents 113,763 (21,692 )
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 132,179 129,253
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $245,942 $107,561
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Supplemental disclosures of other cash flow information:
Cash paid for income taxes, net of refunds $2,965 $2,642
Non-cash investing and financing activities:
Changes in accounts payable and accrued liabilities related to property and

   equipment purchases $(689 ) $2,482
Vesting of early exercised stock options $16 $17

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

3
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VEEVA SYSTEMS INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unaudited)

Note 1.Summary of Business and Significant Accounting Policies
Description of Business

Veeva is a leading provider of industry cloud software and data solutions for life sciences companies. We were
founded in 2007 on the premise that industry-specific cloud solutions could best address the operating challenges and
regulatory requirements of the global life sciences industry. Our solutions are designed to meet the unique needs of
life sciences companies regardless of size and to address their most strategic business functions. From research and
development to commercialization, our solutions are designed to help our customers bring products to market faster
and more efficiently, market and sell more effectively and maintain compliance with government regulations. We
provide multichannel customer relationship management, regulated content and information management, master data
management and data and data services that meet the specialized functional and compliance needs of life sciences
companies. Recently, we announced that we will begin selling certain of our regulated content and information
management applications to companies in regulated industries adjacent to life sciences. Our fiscal year end is January
31.

Principles of Consolidation and Basis of Presentation

These unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles in the United States (GAAP) and applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and
Exchange Commission (SEC) regarding interim financial reporting and include the accounts of our wholly owned
subsidiaries after elimination of intercompany accounts and transactions. Certain information and note disclosures
normally included in the financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP have been condensed or omitted
pursuant to such rules and regulations. Therefore, these condensed consolidated financial statements should be read in
conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes included in Veeva’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the fiscal year ended January 31, 2016, filed on March 31, 2016. There have been no changes to our significant
accounting policies described in the annual report that have had a material impact on our condensed consolidated
financial statements and related notes.

The consolidated balance sheet as of January 31, 2016 included herein was derived from the audited financial
statements as of that date. These unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements reflect all normal recurring
adjustments necessary to present fairly the financial position, results of operations, our comprehensive income and
cash flows for the interim periods, but are not necessarily indicative of the results of operations to be anticipated for
the full fiscal year ending January 31, 2017 or any other period.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of condensed consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires us to make
estimates, judgments and assumptions that affect the condensed consolidated financial statements and the notes
thereto. These estimates are based on information available as of the date of the condensed consolidated financial
statements. On a regular basis, management evaluates these estimates and assumptions. Significant items subject to
such estimates and assumptions include, but are not limited to:
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· the best estimate of selling price of the deliverables included in multiple-deliverable revenue arrangements;
· the collectibility of our accounts receivable;
· the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed for business combinations;
· the valuation of short-term investments and the determination of other-than-temporary impairments;
· the valuation of building and land;
· the realizability of deferred income tax assets and liabilities;
· the fair value of our stock-based awards and related forfeiture rates; and
·the capitalization and estimated useful life of internal-use software development costs.

As future events cannot be determined with precision, actual results could differ significantly from those estimates.

4
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Revenue Recognition

We derive our revenues primarily from subscription services fees and professional services fees. Subscription services
revenues consist of fees from customers accessing our cloud-based software solutions and subscription or license fees
for our data solutions. In addition, Zinc Ahead, a company we recently acquired, had a limited number of perpetual
license agreements with accompanying maintenance and hosting fees. We have included such on-going maintenance
and hosting fees in our subscription services revenues. Professional services and other revenues consist primarily of
fees from implementation services, configuration, data services, training and managed services related to our
solutions. We commence revenue recognition when all of the following conditions are satisfied:

· there is persuasive evidence of an arrangement;
· the service has been or is being provided to the customer;
· the collection of the fees is reasonably assured; and
·the amount of fees to be paid by the customer is fixed or determinable.

Our subscription services arrangements are generally non-cancellable and do not provide for refunds to customers in
the event of cancellations. We record revenues net of any sales taxes.

Subscription Services Revenues

Subscription services revenues are recognized ratably over the order term beginning when the solution has been
provisioned to the customer. Our subscription arrangements are considered service contracts, and the customer does
not have the right to take possession of the software. On-going maintenance and hosting fees for Zinc Ahead solutions
are also recognized ratably over the accompanying maintenance and hosting term.

Professional Services and Other Revenues

The majority of our professional services arrangements are recognized on a time and materials basis. Professional
services revenues recognized on a time and materials basis are measured monthly based on time incurred and
contractually agreed upon rates. Certain professional services revenues are based on fixed fee arrangements and
revenues are recognized based on the proportional performance method. In some cases, the terms of our time and
materials and fixed fee arrangements may require that we defer the recognition of revenue until contractual conditions
are met. Data services and training revenues are generally recognized as the services are performed.  

Multiple Element Arrangements

We apply the provisions of Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Update (ASU)
2009-13, Multiple—Deliverable Revenue Arrangements, to allocate revenues based on relative best estimated selling
price to each unit of accounting in multiple element arrangements, which generally include subscriptions and
professional services. Best estimated selling price of each unit of accounting included in a multiple element
arrangement is based upon management’s estimate of the selling price of deliverables when vendor specific objective
evidence or third-party evidence of selling price is not available.

We enter into arrangements with multiple deliverables that generally include our subscription offerings and
professional services. For these arrangements we must: (i) determine whether each deliverable has stand-alone value;
(ii) determine the estimated selling price of each element using the selling price hierarchy of vendor specific objective
evidence (VSOE) of fair value, third-party evidence (TPE) or best estimated selling price (BESP), as applicable; and
(iii) allocate the total price among the various deliverables based on the relative selling price method.
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In determining whether professional services and other revenues have stand-alone value, we consider the following
factors for each consulting agreement: availability of the consulting services from other vendors, the nature of the
consulting services and whether the professional services are required in order for the customer to use the subscription
services. If stand-alone value cannot be established for a delivered item in a multiple-element arrangement, the
delivered item is accounted for as a combined unit of accounting with the undelivered item(s).

We have established stand-alone value with respect to all of our offerings except professional services for the recently
acquired Zinc Ahead business. As a result, we account for multiple element arrangements that include Zinc Ahead
professional services as a combined unit of accounting and recognize the revenues from such professional services
ratably over the term of the associated subscription services.

5
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We have determined that we are not able to establish VSOE of fair value or TPE of selling price for any of our
deliverables, and accordingly we use BESP for each deliverable in the arrangement. The objective of BESP is to
estimate the price at which we would transact a sale of the service deliverables if the services were sold on a
stand-alone basis. Revenue allocated to each deliverable is recognized when the basic revenue recognition criteria are
met for each deliverable.

We determine BESP for our subscription services included in a multiple element arrangement by considering multiple
factors including, but not limited to, stated subscription renewal rates offered to the customer to renew the service and
other major groupings such as customer type and geography.

BESP for professional services considers the discount of actual professional services sold compared to list price, the
experience level of the individual performing the service and the estimated location of the end users for which the
services were performed.

We allocate consideration proportionately based on established BESP and then recognize the allocated revenue over
the respective delivery periods for each element.  

Deferred Revenue

Deferred revenue includes amounts billed to customers for which the revenue recognition criteria have not been met.
Deferred revenue primarily consists of billings or payments received in advance of revenue recognition from our
subscription services, and to a lesser extent, professional services and other revenues described above, and is
recognized as the revenue recognition criteria are met. We generally invoice our customers in annual, quarterly or
monthly installments for the subscription services. Accordingly, the deferred revenue balance does not generally
represent the total contract value of a subscription arrangement. Deferred revenue that will be recognized during the
succeeding 12-month period is recorded as current deferred revenue and the remaining portion is recorded as
noncurrent, which is in the other long-term liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet.

Certain Risks and Concentrations of Credit Risk

Our revenues are derived from subscription services, professional services and other services delivered primarily to
the life sciences industry. We operate in markets that are highly competitive and rapidly changing. Significant
technological changes, shifting customer needs, the emergence of competitive products or services with new
capabilities and other factors could negatively impact our operating results.

Our financial instruments that potentially subject us to concentration of credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash
equivalents, short-term investments and trade accounts receivable. Our cash equivalents and short-term investments
are held in safekeeping by large, credit-worthy financial institutions. We have established guidelines relative to credit
ratings, diversification and maturities that seek to maintain safety and liquidity. Deposits in these financial institutions
may significantly exceed federally insured limits.

We do not require collateral from our customers and generally require payment within 30 to 60 days of billing. We
periodically evaluate the collectibility of our accounts receivable and provide an allowance for doubtful accounts as
necessary, based on historical experience. Historically, such losses have not been material.

The following customers individually exceeded 10% of total accounts receivable as of the dates shown:  
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April
30,

January
31,

2016 2016
Customer 1 * 16%
Customer 2 * 15
Customer 3 14% *

*Does not exceed 10%.
No single customer represented over 10% of total revenues in the condensed consolidated financial statements for the
three months ended April 30, 2016 and 2015.

6
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Stock-Based Compensation

In March 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”)
2016-09, “Compensation-Stock Compensation: Improvements to Employee Share-Based Payment”. The guidance
simplifies the accounting for share-based transactions, including the income tax consequences, classification of
awards as either equity or liabilities on the balance sheet, and classification of employee taxes paid on statement of
cash flows when an employer withholds shares for tax-withholding purposes. The new standard is effective for interim
and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2016, and early adoption is permitted. We have elected not to early
adopt. We are evaluating the impact of adopting this new accounting standard on our consolidated financial
statements.

Leases

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, “Leases”. ASU 2016-02 requires that lease arrangements longer than
twelve months result in an entity recognizing an asset and liability. The updated guidance is effective for interim and
annual periods beginning after December 15, 2018, and early adoption is permitted. We are evaluating the impact of
this new accounting standard on our consolidated financial statements and have not determined whether we will early
adopt.

Financial Instruments

In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-1, “Financial Instruments.” This guidance outlines the classification and
measurement of financial instruments. The requirement to disclose the methods and significant assumptions used to
estimate fair value is removed. In addition, financial assets and financial liabilities are to be presented separately in the
notes to the financial statements, grouped by measurement category and form of financial asset. This standard will be
effective for our fiscal year beginning in February 1, 2017, and early adoption is permitted. We do not expect this
standard to have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

Business Combinations

In September 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-16, “Simplifying the Accounting for Measurement-Period
Adjustments.” This guidance requires the acquirer to recognize adjustments to provisional amounts identified during
the measurement period in the reporting period in which the adjustment amounts are determined. The effect on
earnings for changes in depreciation or amortization, or other income effects (if any) as a result of the change to the
provisional amounts, calculated as if the accounting had been completed as of the acquisition date, must be recorded
in the reporting period in which the adjustment amounts are determined rather than retrospectively. This standard will
be applied prospectively to adjustments to provisional amounts that occur after the effective date. The Company
adopted this standard on a prospective basis for our fiscal year beginning in February 1, 2016. We do not expect this
standard to have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

Cloud Computing Arrangements

In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-05, “Customer's Accounting for Fees Paid in a Cloud Computing
Arrangement.” This guidance is intended to help entities evaluate the accounting for fees paid by a customer in a cloud
computing arrangement, primarily to determine whether the arrangement includes a sale or license of software. If a
cloud computing arrangement includes a software license, the customer should account for the software license
element of the arrangement consistent with the acquisition of other software licenses. If the arrangement does not
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include a software license, the customer should account for a cloud computing arrangement as a service contract. The
Company adopted this standard on a prospective basis for our fiscal year beginning February 1, 2016. We do not
expect this standard to have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

Revenue Recognition

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers.” This guidance outlines a
single comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising from contracts with customers and
supersedes most current revenue recognition guidance, including industry-specific guidance. The core principle of the
revenue model requires revenue to be recognized when promised goods or services are transferred to customers in an
amount that reflects the consideration that is expected to be received for those goods or services. ASU 2014-09
supersedes the existing revenue recognition guidance in “Revenue Recognition (Topic 605).” This update should be
applied retrospectively either to each prior reporting period presented in the financial statements, or only to the most
current reporting period presented in the financial statements with a cumulative effect adjustment recorded in the
retained earnings. In August 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-14, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic

7
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606): Deferral of the Effective Date.” This Update defers the effective date of ASU 2014-09 for all entities by one year,
although companies still have the option to begin applying the new guidance as of the original effective date. In
accordance with the deferral, this guidance will be effective for our fiscal year beginning February 1, 2018. In May
2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-12, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Narrow-Scope
Improvements and Practical Expedients,” which clarifies implementation guidance in ASU 2014-09 on assessing
collectability, noncash consideration, presentation of sales tax and completed contracts and contract modifications at
transition. We are evaluating the effect that these new accounting standards will have on our consolidated financial
statements and related disclosures and have not selected a transition method yet or determined whether we will early
adopt.

Note 2.Acquisitions
Our acquisitions are accounted for as business combinations. In accordance with authoritative guidance on business
combination accounting, the assets and liabilities of the acquired companies were recorded as of the acquisition date,
at their respective fair values, and are included within our condensed consolidated financial statements. The results of
operations related to each company acquired have been included in our condensed consolidated statements of
operations from the date of acquisitions. All acquisition-related transaction costs are expensed and reflected in general
and administrative expenses on our condensed consolidated statements of comprehensive income for the periods
presented.

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the underlying net tangible and intangible
assets and represents the future economic benefits of the customer relationships and data technology contributions in
support of our data-related offerings. Goodwill is not deductible for U.S. tax purposes.

The fair values assigned to assets acquired and liabilities assumed are based on management’s best estimates and
assumptions as of the reporting date and are considered preliminary pending finalization of valuation analyses
pertaining to intangible assets acquired, liabilities assumed and tax liabilities assumed including calculation of
deferred tax assets and liabilities. Changes to amounts recorded as assets or liabilities may result in corresponding
adjustments to goodwill during the measurement period (up to one year from the acquisition date).

Zinc Ahead

On September 29, 2015, we completed our acquisition of Mineral Newco Ltd., the ultimate parent company of Zinc
Ahead Ltd, a company organized under the laws of the United Kingdom that is the ultimate parent company of Zinc
Ahead Holdings Ltd, Zinc Ahead Ltd, Zinc Ahead Inc., Zinc Ahead PTY LTD and Zinc Ahead (Japan) KK
(collectively, “Zinc Ahead”), in an all-cash transaction. Through a share purchase agreement our indirect subsidiary,
Veeva U.K. Holdings Limited, acquired all of the share capital of Zinc Ahead. Under the acquisition method of
accounting, the total purchase price was allocated to Zinc Ahead's net tangible and intangible assets based upon their
estimated fair values as of September 29, 2015.

The total closing consideration for the purchase was approximately $119.9 million in cash. In addition, the agreement,
as revised, calls for $9.6 million payable over three years at a rate of one-third per year to employee shareholders and
option holders of Zinc Ahead who remain employed with us. These payments have been accounted for as deferred
compensation and will be recognized over the service period. Zinc Ahead was a provider of commercial content
management solutions. We expect this acquisition to support the continued growth of our commercial content
management solutions. Over time, we will seek to convert the users of the Zinc Ahead solutions to our Veeva Vault
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PromoMats application. As of April 30, 2016, we had incurred $2.2 million in acquisition-related transaction costs
which are reflected in general and administrative expenses on our condensed consolidated statements of
comprehensive income.

8
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The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the
acquisition date (in thousands):

Useful Lives of

Intangible

Assets
Fair
Value

Purchase price
Cash $119,935

Allocation of purchase price
Cash $3,107
Accounts receivable 4,600
Other current and non-current assets 5,140
Deferred tax liabilities, net (12,316 )
Other current and non-current liabilities (8,730 )
Net liabilities $(8,199 )

Customer contracts and relationships 10 years $31,823
Software 4.5 years 10,063
Brand 3.5 years 1,141
Purchased intangible assets $43,027

Goodwill $85,107

Total purchase price $119,935

We did not record any in-process research and development in connection with the Zinc Ahead acquisition.

The following unaudited pro forma information for the three months ended April 30, 2015, presents the combined
results of operations for the periods presented as if the acquisition had been completed on February 1, 2015, the
beginning of the comparable prior annual reporting period. The unaudited pro forma results include the amortization
associated with preliminary estimates for the acquired intangible assets, changes to interest income for cash used in
the acquisition, and exclude acquisition-related transaction costs and the associated tax impact on these unaudited pro
forma adjustments.

The unaudited pro forma results do not reflect any cost saving synergies from operating efficiencies or the effect of
the incremental costs incurred in integrating the two companies. Accordingly, these unaudited pro forma results are
presented for informational purpose only and are not necessarily indicative of what the actual results of operations of
the combined company would have been if the acquisition had occurred at the beginning of the period presented, nor
are they indicative of future results of operations (in thousands):
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Three
Months
Ended

April 30,
2015
(Unaudited)

Pro forma revenues $ 96,531
Pro forma net income $ 9,916
Pro forma net income per share attributable to Class A and Class B common stockholders:
Basic $ 0.08
Diluted $ 0.07

9
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Qforma CrowdLink

On March 31, 2015, we completed our acquisition of the key opinion leader, or KOL, business and products known as
Qforma CrowdLink in an all-cash transaction. We expect this acquisition to support our key opinion leader business.
Total purchase price was $9.8 million in cash.

There are no contingent cash payments related to this transaction. We had incurred $0.4 million in acquisition-related
transaction costs which are reflected in general and administrative expenses on our condensed consolidated statements
of comprehensive income. The assets, liabilities and operating results of Qforma CrowdLink have been reflected in
our condensed consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition and have not been material.

Through the transaction we acquired the outstanding equity interests of Mederi AG, and the selected other
KOL-related business assets and liabilities of Qforma, Inc. and other affiliated entities. Under the acquisition method
of accounting, the total purchase price was allocated to Qforma CrowdLink's net tangible and intangible assets based
upon their estimated fair values as of March 31, 2015.

The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the
acquisition date (in thousands):

Useful Lives of

Intangible

Assets
Fair
Value

Purchase price
Cash $9,750

Allocation of purchase price
Cash $56
Accounts receivable 1,085
Deferred tax assets, net 143
Other current and non-current assets 50
Other current and non-current liabilities (731 )
Net assets $603

Database 5 years $1,800
Customer relationships 4 years 800
Software 5 years 500
Existing technology 5 years 200
Purchased intangible assets $3,300

Goodwill $5,847

Total purchase price $9,750
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We did not record any in-process research and development in connection with the Qforma CrowdLink acquisition.
Pro forma results of operations have not been presented because the effect of this acquisition was not material to the
consolidated financial statements.

10
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Note 3.Short-Term Investments  
At April 30, 2016, short-term investments consisted of the following (in thousands):

Gross Gross Estimated
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
Cost Gains Losses Value

Available-for-sale securities:
Asset-backed securities $ 11,020 $ 30 $ (1 ) $11,049
Commercial paper 16,151 — — 16,151
Corporate notes and bonds 34,223 37 (22 ) 34,238
U.S. agency obligations 95,444 33 (6 ) 95,471
U.S. treasury securities 54,572 20 (8 ) 54,584
Total available-for-sale securities $ 211,410 $ 120 $ (37 ) $211,493

At January 31, 2016, short-term investments consisted of the following (in thousands):  

Gross Gross Estimated
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
Cost Gains Losses Value

Available-for-sale securities:
Asset-backed securities $ 5,456 $ — $ (2 ) $5,454
Commercial paper 5,970 — — 5,970
Corporate notes and bonds 38,341 26 (40 ) 38,327
U.S. agency obligations 124,626 14 (54 ) 124,586
U.S. treasury securities 39,720 4 (37 ) 39,687
Total available-for-sale securities $ 214,113 $ 44 $ (133 ) $214,024

The following table summarizes the estimated fair value of our short-term investments, designated as
available-for-sale and classified by the contractual maturity date of the securities as of the dates shown (in thousands):

April 30,
January
31,

2016 2016
Due in one year or less $160,382 $151,214
Due in greater than one year 51,111 62,810
Total $211,493 $214,024
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We have certain available-for-sale securities in a gross unrealized loss position, all of which have been in such
position for less than 12 months. We review our debt securities classified as short-term investments on a regular basis
to evaluate whether or not any security has experienced an other-than-temporary decline in fair value. We consider
factors such as the length of time and extent to which the market value has been less than the cost, the financial
position and near-term prospects of the issuer and our intent to sell, or whether it is more likely than not we will be
required to sell the investment before recovery of the investment’s amortized-cost basis. If we determine that an
other-than-temporary decline exists in one of these securities, the respective investment would be written down to fair
value. For debt securities, the portion of the write-down related to credit loss would be recognized to other income, net
in our condensed consolidated statements of comprehensive income. Any portion not related to credit loss would be
included in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). There were no impairments considered
other-than-temporary as of April 30, 2016 and January 31, 2016.

The following table shows the fair values and the gross unrealized losses of these available-for-sale securities
aggregated by investment category as of April 30, 2016 (in thousands):  

Gross
Fair Unrealized
Value Losses

Asset-backed securities $469 $ (1 )
Corporate notes and bonds 10,101 (22 )
U.S. agency obligations 24,158 (6 )
U.S. treasury securities 25,949 (8 )

11
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The following table shows the fair values and the gross unrealized losses of these available-for-sale securities
aggregated by investment category as of January 31, 2016 (in thousands):

Gross
Fair Unrealized
Value Losses

Asset-backed securities $2,249 $ (2 )
Corporate notes and bonds 14,296 (40 )
U.S. agency obligations 82,806 (54 )
U.S. treasury securities 33,486 (37 )

Note 4.Property and Equipment, Net
Property and equipment, net, consists of the following as of the dates shown (in thousands):

April
30,

January
31,

2016 2016
Land $3,040 $3,040
Building 20,984 20,984
Land improvements and building improvements 14,141 14,106
Equipment and computers 6,430 5,910
Furniture and fixtures 6,735 6,453
Leasehold improvements 1,768 1,323
Construction in progress 128 —

53,226 51,816
Less accumulated depreciation (5,567 ) (4,347 )
Total property and equipment, net $47,659 $47,469

Total depreciation expense for the three months ended April 30, 2016 and 2015 was $1.2 million and $0.4 million,
respectively. Land is not depreciated.

Note 5.Capitalized Internal-Use Software
Capitalized internal-use software, net, consisted of the following as of the dates shown (in thousands):
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April
30,

January
31,

2016 2016
Capitalized internal-use software development costs $3,967 $3,801
Less accumulated amortization (2,998) (2,822)
Capitalized internal-use software development costs, net $969 $979

During the three months ended April 30, 2016, we capitalized $0.2 million of internal-use software development
costs. During the three months ended April 30, 2015, we capitalized an immaterial amount of internal-use software
development costs.

Capitalized internal-use software amortization expense for the three months ended April 30, 2016 and 2015 was
$0.2 million and $0.2 million, respectively.

12
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Note 6.Intangible Assets 

The following schedule presents the details of intangible assets as of April 30, 2016 (dollar amounts in thousands):

April 30, 2016
Gross Remaining

Carrying Accumulated
Useful
Life

Amount Amortization Net (in years)
Existing technology $3,880 $ (2,151 ) $1,729 2.3
Database 4,939 (2,398 ) 2,541 2.8
Customer contracts and relationships 33,643 (2,567 ) 31,076 9.2
Software 10,867 (1,717 ) 9,150 3.9
Brand 1,141 (191 ) 950 2.9

$54,470 $ (9,024 ) $45,446

The following schedule presents the details of intangible assets as of January 31, 2016 (dollar amounts in thousands):

January 31, 2015
Gross Remaining

Carrying Accumulated
Useful
Life

Amount Amortization Net (in years)
Existing technology $3,880 $ (1,957 ) $1,923 2.6
Database 4,939 (2,103 ) 2,836 3.0
Customer contracts and relationships 33,643 (1,693 ) 31,950 9.4
Software 10,867 (1,106 ) 9,761 4.2
Brand 1,141 (111 ) 1,030 3.2

$54,470 $ (6,970 ) $47,500

Amortization expense associated with intangible assets for the three months ended April 30, 2016 and 2015 was $2.1
million and $0.4 million, respectively.

The estimated amortization expense for intangible assets, for the next five years and thereafter is as follows (in
thousands):

Estimated
Amortization

Period Expense
Fiscal 2017 $ 6,172
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Fiscal 2018 7,791
Fiscal 2019 6,963
Fiscal 2020 6,062
Fiscal 2021 3,628
Thereafter 14,830
Total $ 45,446

13
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Note 7.Accrued Expenses  
Accrued expenses consisted of the following as of the dates shown (in thousands):

April
30,

January
31,

2016 2016
Accrued commissions $1,531 $2,798
Accrued bonus 1,751 2,957
Deferred compensation associated with Zinc Ahead 2,784 1,120
Accrued other compensation and benefits 5,828 5,576
Total accrued compensation and benefits $11,894 $12,451

Accrued fees payable to salesforce.com 4,210 4,222
Accrued third-party professional services subcontractors' fees 774 1,152
Sales taxes payable 975 1,597
Other accrued expenses 2,086 4,088
Total accrued expenses and other current liabilities $8,045 $11,059

Note 8.Fair Value Measurements
The carrying amounts of accounts receivable and other current assets, accounts payable and accrued liabilities
approximate fair value due to their short-term nature.

Financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at fair value in the condensed consolidated financial statements are
categorized based upon the level of judgment associated with the inputs used to measure their fair value. Hierarchical
levels, which are directly related to the amount of subjectivity associated with the inputs to the valuation of these
assets or liabilities are as follows:

Level 1—Observable inputs, such as quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2—Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities, quoted prices
in markets that are not active, or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for
substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities.

Level 3—Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value
of the assets or liabilities.

Financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level
of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. Our assessment of the significance of a particular input to the
fair value measurement in its entirety requires management to make judgments and considers factors specific to the
asset or liability.

The following table presents the fair value hierarchy for financial assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis as
of April 30, 2016 (in thousands):  
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Level 1 Level 2
Level
3 Total

Cash equivalents:
Money market funds $20,212 $— $ — $20,212
Commercial paper — 12,999 — 12,999
Corporate notes and bonds — 1,001 — 1,001
U.S. agency obligations — 10,100 — 10,100
Short-term investments
Asset-backed securities — 11,049 — 11,049
Commercial paper — 16,151 — 16,151
Corporate notes and bonds — 34,238 — 34,238
U.S. agency obligations — 95,471 — 95,471
U.S. treasury securities — 54,584 — 54,584
Total $20,212 $235,593 $ — $255,805
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The following table presents the fair value hierarchy for financial assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis as
of January 31, 2016 (in thousands):

Level 1 Level 2
Level
3 Total

Cash equivalents:
Money market funds $28,087 $— $ — $28,087
Corporate notes and bonds — 11,396 — 11,396
U.S. agency obligations — 3,002 — 3,002
Short-term investments
Asset-backed securities — 5,454 — 5,454
Commercial paper — 5,970 — 5,970
Corporate notes and bonds — 38,327 — 38,327
U.S. agency obligations — 124,586 — 124,586
U.S. treasury securities — 39,687 — 39,687
Total $28,087 $228,422 $ — $256,509

We determine the fair value of our security holdings based on pricing from our service provider and market prices
from industry-standard independent data providers. The valuation techniques used to measure the fair value of
financial instruments having Level 2 inputs were derived from non-binding consensus prices that are corroborated by
observable market data or quoted market prices for similar instruments. Such market prices may be quoted prices in
active markets for identical assets (Level 1 inputs) or pricing determined using inputs other than quoted prices that are
observable either directly or indirectly (Level 2 inputs). We perform procedures to ensure that appropriate fair values
are recorded such as comparing prices obtained from other sources.

Note 9.Income Taxes
For the three months ended April 30, 2016 and 2015, our effective tax rates were 39.1% and 40.1%, respectively.
During the three months ended April 30, 2016 as compared to the prior year period, our effective tax rate decreased
primarily due to the permanent reenactment of the U.S. Research and Development Tax credit which was signed into
law in December 2015.

Note 10.Stockholders’ Equity
Early Exercise of Employee Options

We historically have allowed for the early exercise of options granted under the 2007 Stock Plan (2007 Plan) prior to
vesting. Historically, all such early exercises have been through cash payment. The unvested shares are subject to our
repurchase right at the original purchase price. The proceeds initially are recorded as an accrued liability from the
early exercise of stock options, and reclassified to common stock as our repurchase right lapses. At April 30, 2016, the
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amount of unvested shares and the aggregate price for those shares that were subject to repurchase were immaterial.
At January 31, 2016 there were 56,666 unvested shares which were subject to repurchase at an aggregate price of an
immaterial amount.

Stock Option Activity

A summary of stock option activity for the three months ended April 30, 2016 is as follows:

Weighted
Weighted average
average remaining Aggregate

Number exercise contractual intrinsic
of shares price term (in years) value

Options outstanding at January 31, 2016 18,549,702 $ 5.01 6.8 $359,306,108
Options granted 1,075,000 25.41
Options exercised (676,316 ) 2.15
Options forfeited/cancelled (86,285 ) 4.86
Options outstanding at April 30, 2016 18,862,101 $ 6.28 6.8 $402,583,061
Options vested and exercisable at April 30, 2016 5,673,922 $ 4.18 6.1 $133,245,875
Options vested and exercisable at April 30, 2016 and

   expected to vest thereafter 18,091,270 $ 6.21 6.8 $387,417,783
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During the three months ended April 30, 2016, we granted 1,075,000 stock options under the 2013 EIP. The weighted
average grant-date fair value of options granted during the three months ended April 30, 2016 was $11.99 per share.

As of April 30, 2016, there was $40.2 million in unrecognized compensation cost, net of estimated forfeitures, related
to unvested stock options granted under the 2007 Plan, 2012 Equity Incentive Plan and 2013 Equity Incentive Plan
(2013 EIP). This cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 3.8 years.

As of April 30, 2016, we had authorized and unissued shares of common stock sufficient to satisfy exercises of stock
options.

The total intrinsic value of options exercised was approximately $15.3 million for the three months ended April 30,
2016.

Restricted Stock Units

A summary of restricted stock unit (RSU) activity for the three months ended April 30, 2016 is as follows:

Weighted
Unreleased average
Restricted grant date
Stock
Units fair value

Balance at January 31, 2016 2,219,425 $ 26.80
RSUs granted 1,462,105 25.44
RSUs vested (167,916 ) 26.88
RSUs forfeited/cancelled (111,329 ) 26.22
Balance at April 30, 2016 3,402,285 $ 26.23

During the three months ended April 30, 2016, we issued 1,462,105 RSUs under the 2013 EIP with a
weighted-average grant date fair value of $25.44.

As of April 30, 2016, there was a total of $84.5 million in unrecognized compensation cost, net of estimated
forfeitures, related to unvested RSUs. This cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of
approximately 3.3 years.

Stock-Based Compensation

Compensation expense related to share-based transactions, including employee, consultant, and non-employee
director stock option awards, is measured and recognized in the condensed consolidated financial statements based on
fair value. The fair value of each option award is estimated on the grant date using the Black-Scholes option-pricing
model. The stock-based compensation expense, net of forfeitures, is recognized using a straight-line basis over the
requisite service periods of the awards, which is generally four to nine years. For restricted stock awards, fair value is
based on the closing price of our common stock on the grant date.
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Our option-pricing model requires the input of subjective assumptions, including the fair value of the underlying
common stock, the expected term of the option, the expected volatility of the price of our common stock, risk-free
interest rates, and the expected dividend yield of our common stock. The assumptions used in our option-pricing
model represent management’s best estimates. These estimates involve inherent uncertainties and the application of
management’s judgment. If factors change and different assumptions are used, our stock-based compensation expense
could be materially different in the future.

The following table presents the weighted-average assumptions used to estimate the grant date fair value of options
granted during the periods presented:

Three
Months
Ended

April 30,
2016 2015

Volatility
45%
– 46% 46%

Expected term (in years)
6.31
– 7.566.11

Risk-free interest rate
1.48%
– 1.67%

1.76% –
1.83%

Dividend yield 0% 0%

16

Edgar Filing: VEEVA SYSTEMS INC - Form 10-Q

36



For the three months ended April 30, 2016 and 2015, we capitalized an immaterial amount of stock-based
compensation as part of our internal-use software capitalization.

Note 11.Net Income per Share Attributable to Common Stockholders
We compute net income per share of Class A and Class B common stock using the two-class method required for
participating securities. Prior to the date of our IPO in October 2013, we considered all series of our convertible
preferred stock to be participating securities due to their non-cumulative dividend rights. Immediately prior to the
completion of our IPO, all outstanding shares of convertible preferred stock converted to Class B common stock.
Additionally, we consider unvested shares issued upon the early exercise of options to be participating securities as
the holders of these shares have a non-forfeitable right to dividends in the event of our declaration of a dividend for
common shares.

Under the two-class method, net income attributable to common stockholders is determined by allocating
undistributed earnings, calculated as net income, less (i) current period convertible preferred stock non-cumulative
dividends and (ii) earnings attributable to participating securities.

The net income per share attributable to common stockholders is allocated based on the contractual participation
rights of the Class A common stock and Class B common stock as if the income for the year has been distributed. As
the liquidation and dividend rights are identical, the net loss attributable to common stockholders is allocated on a
proportionate basis.

Basic net income per share of common stock is computed by dividing the net income attributable to common
stockholders by the weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the period. All
participating securities are excluded from the basic weighted-average shares of common stock outstanding. Unvested
shares of common stock resulting from the early exercises of stock options are excluded from the calculation of the
weighted-average shares of common stock until they vest as they are subject to repurchase until they are vested.

Diluted net income per share attributable to common stockholders is computed by dividing net income attributable to
common stockholders by the weighted-average shares outstanding, including potentially dilutive shares of common
equivalents outstanding during the period.  The dilutive effect of potential shares of common stock are determined
using the treasury stock method.

Undistributed net income for a given period is apportioned to participating securities based on the weighted-average
shares of each class of common stock outstanding during the applicable period as a percentage of the total
weighted-average shares outstanding during the same period.

For purposes of the diluted net income per share attributable to common stockholders calculation, unvested shares of
common stock resulting from the early exercises of stock options and unvested options to purchase common stock are
considered to be potentially dilutive shares of common stock. In addition, the computation of the fully diluted net
income per share of Class A common stock assumes the conversion from Class B common stock, while the fully
diluted net income per share of Class B common stock does not assume the conversion of those shares.
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The numerators and denominators of the basic and diluted EPS computations for our common stock are calculated as
follows (in thousands, except per share data):

Three Months Ended April 30,
2016 2015
Class A Class B Class A Class B

Basic
Numerator
Net income $8,404 $4,105 $6,837 $6,145
Undistributed earnings allocated to participating securities (3 ) (1 ) (9 ) (9 )
Net income attributable to common stockholders, basic $8,401 $4,104 $6,828 $6,136
Denominator
Weighted average shares used in computing net income per

   share attributable to common stockholders, basic 90,020 43,976 69,078 62,085
Net income per share attributable to common stockholders, basic $0.09 $0.09 $0.10 $0.10

Diluted
Numerator
Net income attributable to common stockholders, basic $8,401 $4,104 $6,828 $6,136
Reallocation as a result of conversion of Class B to Class A

   common stock:
Net income attributable to common stockholders, basic 4,104 — 6,136 —
Reallocation of net income to Class B common stock — 675 — 640
Net income attributable to common stockholders, diluted $12,505 $4,779 $12,964 $6,776
Denominator
Number of shares used for basic EPS computation 90,020 43,976 69,078 62,085
Conversion of Class B to Class A common stock 43,976 — 62,085 —
Effect of potentially dilutive common shares 11,712 11,712 13,571 13,571
Weighted average shares used in computing net income per

   share attributable to common stockholders, diluted 145,708 55,688 144,734 75,656
Net income per share attributable to common stockholders,

   diluted $0.09 $0.09 $0.09 $0.09

Potential common share equivalents excluded where the inclusion would be anti-dilutive are as follows:

Three Months Ended

April 30,
2016 2015

Options and awards to purchase shares not included in the computation of diluted net 1,489,703 643,638
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   income per share because their inclusion would be anti-dilutive

Note 12.Commitments and Contingencies
Litigation

Liabilities for loss contingencies arising from claims, assessments, litigation, fines, and penalties and other sources are
recorded when it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the assessment or remediation can be
reasonably estimated. Legal costs incurred in connection with loss contingencies are expensed as incurred.

From time to time, we may be involved in legal proceedings and subject to claims incident to the ordinary course of
business. Although the results of such legal proceedings and claims cannot be predicted with certainty, we believe we
are not currently a party to any legal proceedings, the outcome of which, if determined adversely to us, would
individually or taken together have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results, cash flows or financial
position. Regardless of the outcome, such proceedings can have an adverse impact on us because of defense and
settlement costs, diversion of resources and other factors, and there can be no assurances that favorable outcomes will
be obtained.
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Value-Added Reseller Agreement

We have a value-added reseller agreement with salesforce.com, inc. for our use of the Salesforce Platform in
combination with our developed technology to deliver certain of our multichannel customer relationship management
applications, including hosting infrastructure and data center operations provided by salesforce.com. The agreement,
as amended, requires that we meet minimum order commitments of $500 million over the term of the agreement,
which ends on September 1, 2025, including “true-up” payments if the orders we place with salesforce.com have not
equaled or exceeded the following aggregate amounts within the timeframes indicated: (i) $250 million for the period
from March 1, 2014 to September 1, 2020 and (ii) the full amount of $500 million by September 1, 2025. As of April
30, 2016, we remained obligated to pay fees of at least $396.7 million prior to September 1, 2025 in connection with
this agreement.

OEM Agreement

Zinc Ahead, a recently acquired business, has an authorized OEM agreement with VYRE Limited for use and resale
of certain proprietary products used for digital asset management in combination with the Zinc Ahead product
offerings. As of April 30, 2016, we remain obligated to pay fees of $0.2 million annually through June 2019, a total of
$0.8 million through the remainder of this agreement.

Note 13.Information about Geographic Areas
We track and allocate revenues by the principal geographic region of our customers’ end users rather than by
individual country, which makes it impractical to disclose revenues for the United States or other specific foreign
countries. Revenues by geographic area, as measured by the estimated location of the end users for subscription
services revenues and the estimated location of the end users for which the services were performed for professional
services revenues, were as follows for the periods shown below (in thousands):

Three Months
Ended April 30,
2016 2015

Revenues by geography
North America $65,439 $50,053
Europe and other 34,814 24,131
Asia Pacific 19,511 15,739
Total revenues $119,764 $89,923

Long-lived assets by geographic area are as follows as of the periods shown below (in thousands):

April
30,

January
31,

2016 2016
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Long-lived assets by geography
North America $44,949 $45,163
Europe and other 1,805 1,827
Asia Pacific 905 479
Total long-lived assets $47,659 $47,469

Note 14.Subsequent Events
In May 2016, salesforce.com suffered a significant service outage with respect to a group of servers that hosts the
Veeva CRM solution for 38 of our Veeva CRM customers. The outage resulted in unplanned system unavailability of
up to 21 hours for the associated Veeva customers, for which such customers may claim service level credits under
their contracts with us. We do not currently expect the impact of any claimed service level credits to be material to our
financial results for our fiscal quarter ending July 31, 2016.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations. 
You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations in
conjunction with our condensed consolidated financial statements and notes thereto appearing elsewhere in this report.
In addition to historical condensed consolidated financial information, the following discussion and analysis contains
forward-looking statements that involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions. Our actual results could differ materially
from those anticipated by these forward-looking statements as a result of many factors. We discuss factors that we
believe could cause or contribute to these differences below and elsewhere in this report, including those set forth
under “Risk Factors” and “Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements.”

Overview

Veeva is a leading provider of industry cloud software and data solutions for life sciences companies. We were
founded in 2007 on the premise that industry-specific cloud solutions could best address the operating challenges and
regulatory requirements of the global life sciences industry. Our solutions are designed to meet the unique needs of
life sciences companies regardless of size and to address their most strategic business functions. From research and
development to commercialization, our solutions are designed to help our customers bring products to market faster
and more efficiently, market and sell more effectively and maintain compliance with government regulations.

Veeva CRM was our first commercially available solution and has made up the vast majority of our revenue
historically. In our fiscal year ended January 31, 2016, we derived approximately 79% of our subscription services
revenues and 74% of our total revenues from our core sales automation solution, Veeva CRM, and our newer
multichannel customer relationship management applications that complement Veeva CRM. The contribution of
subscription services revenues and total revenues associated with Veeva Vault, Veeva Network master data
management solutions and Veeva’s data offerings is expected to increase as a percentage of subscription services
revenues and total revenue going forward. Additionally, we recently announced that we will begin selling certain of
our Veeva Vault applications to companies in regulated industries adjacent to life sciences. However, we have less
experience selling Veeva Vault, Veeva Network master data management solutions, Veeva’s data offerings and our
newer multichannel customer relationship management applications that complement Veeva CRM. Although the
Veeva Vault solution, in particular, has begun to achieve market acceptance, to the extent that these more recently
introduced solutions do not continue to achieve significant market acceptance, our business and results of operations
may be adversely affected.

For our fiscal years ended January 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, our total revenues were $409.2 million, $313.2 million
and $210.2 million, respectively, representing year-over-year growth in total revenues of 31% and 49% for our two
most recent fiscal years. For our fiscal years ended January 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, our subscription services
revenues were $316.3 million, $233.1 million and $146.6 million, respectively, representing year-over-year growth in
subscription services revenues of 36% and 59% for our two most recent fiscal years. We expect the growth rate of our
total revenues and subscription services revenues to slightly decline in future periods. We generated net income of
$54.5 million, $40.4 million and $23.6 million for our fiscal years ended January 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014,
respectively. As of January 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, we served 400, 276 and 198 customers, respectively.  With
respect to our major product lines, our customer totals for each product line as of January 31, 2016, were 212 for
Veeva CRM, 219 for Veeva Vault, 35 for Veeva Network Customer Master, and 62 for Veeva OpenData data and
data services. A single customer may be counted in more than one product line if the customer has purchased multiple
major product lines. Many of our Veeva Vault applications are used by smaller, earlier stage pre-commercial
companies. Thus, the potential number of Veeva Vault customers is significantly higher than the potential number of
customers that use our commercial solutions.  

For the three months ended April 30, 2016 and 2015, our total revenues were $119.8 million and $89.9 million,
respectively, representing period-over-period growth in total revenues of 33%. For the three months ended April 30,
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2016 and 2015, our subscription services revenues were $96.0 million and $68.9 million, respectively, representing
period-over-period growth in subscription services revenues of 39%. We generated net income of $12.5 million and
$13.0 million for the three months ended April 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

Additionally, in September 2015, we completed our acquisition of the companies referred to as “Zinc Ahead” in an
all-cash transaction. We are incorporating functionality from the Zinc Ahead products into our Veeva Vault
PromoMats application and are migrating the Zinc Ahead customers to the Vault PromoMats application over time.
While we expect this acquisition to support the continued growth of our commercial content management solutions,
we may encounter difficulties integrating the Zinc Ahead business and we may not retain existing Zinc Ahead
customers and key Zinc Ahead employees to the extent we expect, which could adversely affect our business.
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Key Factors Affecting Our Performance

Investment in Growth. We have invested and intend to continue to invest aggressively in expanding the breadth and
depth of our Industry Cloud for life sciences. We expect to continue to invest in research and development to expand
existing solutions and build new solutions, sales and marketing to promote our solutions to new and existing
customers and in existing and expanded geographies and industries, professional services to ensure the success of our
customers’ implementations of our solutions and other operational and administrative functions to support our
expected growth. We anticipate that our headcount will increase as a result of these investments. We expect our total
operating expenses will continue to increase over time, and, in some cases, have short-term negative impacts on our
operating margin.  

Adoption of Our Solutions by Existing and New Customers. Most of our customers initially deploy our solutions to a
limited number of users within a division or geography and may only initially deploy a limited set of our available
solutions. Our future growth is dependent upon our existing customers’ continued success and renewals of
subscriptions to our solutions, expanded deployment of our solutions within their organizations, and the purchase of
subscriptions to additional solutions. Our growth is also dependent on the adoption of our solutions by new customers.

Subscription Services Revenue Retention Rate. A key factor to our success is the renewal and expansion of our
existing subscription agreements with our customers. We calculate our annual subscription services revenue retention
rate for a particular fiscal year by dividing (i) annualized subscription revenue as of the last day of that fiscal year
from those customers that were also customers as of the last day of the prior fiscal year by (ii) the annualized
subscription revenue from all customers as of the last day of the prior fiscal year. Annualized subscription revenue is
calculated by multiplying the daily subscription revenue recognized on the last day of the fiscal year by 365. This
calculation includes the impact on our revenues from customer non-renewals, expanded deployment of our solutions
within their organizations, deployments of additional solutions or discontinued use of solutions by our customers, and
price changes for our solutions. Historically, the impact of price changes on our subscription services revenue
retention rate has been minimal. For our fiscal years ended January 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, our subscription services
revenue retention rate was 125%, 138% and 166%, respectively.

Mix of Subscription and Professional Services Revenues. We believe our investments in professional services have
driven customer success and facilitated the further adoption of our solutions by our customers. During the initial
period of deployment by a customer, we generally provide a greater amount of configuration, implementation and
training than later in the deployment. At the same time, many of our customers have historically purchased
subscriptions for a limited set of their total potential users or less than full adoption during their initial deployments.
As a result of these factors, the proportion of total revenues for a customer associated with professional services is
relatively high during the initial deployment period. Over time, as the need for professional services associated with
user deployments decreases and the number of users increases (as is often the case), we have observed and continue to
expect the mix of total revenues to shift more toward subscription services revenues. As a result, we expect the
proportion of our total revenues from subscription services to increase over time.  

Components of Results of Operations

Revenues

We derive our revenues primarily from subscription services fees and professional services fees. Subscription services
revenues consist of fees from customers accessing our cloud-based software solutions and subscription or license fees
for our data solutions. In addition, Zinc Ahead had a limited number of perpetual license agreements with
accompanying maintenance and hosting fees. We have included such on-going maintenance and hosting fees in our
subscription services revenues. Professional services and other revenues consist primarily of fees from
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implementation services, configuration, data services, training and managed services related to our solutions. For the
three months ended April 30, 2016, subscription services revenues constituted 80% of total revenues and professional
services and other revenues constituted 20% of total revenues.

We enter into master subscription agreements with our customers and count each distinct master subscription
agreement that has not terminated or expired as a distinct customer for purposes of determining our total number of
current customers. We generally enter into a single master subscription agreement with each customer, although in
some instances, affiliated legal entities within the same corporate family may enter into a separate master subscription
agreement. Divisions, subsidiaries and operating units of our customers often place distinct orders for our subscription
services under the same master subscription agreement, and we do not count such distinct orders as new customers for
purposes of determining our total customer count. With respect to data services customers that have not purchased one
of our software solutions, we count as a distinct customer the party to each agreement that has a known and recurring
payment obligation. For purposes of determining our total customer count, we count each entity that uses a legacy
Zinc Ahead product as a distinct customer if such entity is not otherwise a customer of ours.
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New subscription orders typically have a one-year term and automatically renew unless notice of cancellation is
provided in advance. If a customer adds users or solutions to an existing order, such additional orders will generally be
coterminous with the anniversary date of the initial order, and as a result, orders for additional users or solutions will
commonly have an initial term of less than one year. Subscription orders are generally billed just prior to the
subscription commencement date in annual or quarterly increments. Because the term of orders for additional users or
solutions is commonly less than one year and payment terms may be quarterly, the annualized value of the orders we
enter into with our customers will not be completely reflected in deferred revenue at any single point in time. We have
also agreed from time to time and may agree in the future to allow customers to change the renewal dates of their
orders to, for example, align more closely with a customer’s annual budget process or to align with the renewal dates
of other orders placed by other entities within the same corporate control group, or to change payment terms from
annual to quarterly, or vice versa. Such changes may result in a lesser increase to deferred revenue than if the
adjustment had not occurred. Accordingly, we do not believe that change in deferred revenue or calculated billings, a
metric commonly cited by financial analysts that is the sum of the change in deferred revenue plus revenue, are
accurate indicators of future revenues for any given period of time. More recently and with respect to solutions other
than our core sales automation solution, we have begun to enter into orders with terms of up to five years. Such
multi-year orders are billed in annual or quarterly increments.

Subscription services revenues are recognized ratably over the order term beginning when the solution has been
provisioned to the customer. Our subscription services agreements are generally non-cancelable during the term,
although customers typically have the right to terminate their agreements for cause in the event of material breach.
Subscription services revenues are affected primarily by the number of customers, the number of users (or other
subscription usage metric) at each customer that uses our solutions and the number of solutions subscribed to by each
customer.

We utilize our own professional services personnel and, in certain cases, third-party subcontractors to perform our
professional services engagements with customers. Our professional services engagements are primarily billed on a
time and materials basis and revenues are typically recognized as the services are rendered. Certain professional
services revenues are based on fixed fee arrangements and revenues are recognized based on the proportional
performance method. In some cases, the terms of our time and materials and fixed fee arrangements may require that
we defer the recognition of revenue until contractual conditions are met. In those circumstances, revenue recognition
may be sporadic, based upon the achievement of such contractual conditions. Professional services revenues are
affected primarily by our customers’ demands for implementation services, configuration, data services, training and
managed services in connection with our solutions. With respect to our recently acquired Zinc Ahead business, we
have not established stand-alone value for professional services and, therefore, we account for multiple element
arrangements as a combined unit of accounting.  As a result, professional services revenues for our Zinc Ahead
business, when delivered as part of a multiple-element arrangement, are generally recognized ratably over the term of
the associated subscription services.

Cost of Revenues

Cost of subscription services revenues for all of our solutions consists of expenses related to third-party data centers,
personnel related costs associated with hosting our subscription services and providing support, including our data
stewards, operating lease expense associated with computer equipment and software and allocated overhead,
amortization expense associated with capitalized internal-use software related to our subscription services and
amortization expense associated with purchased intangibles related to our subscription services. Cost of subscription
services revenues for Veeva CRM and certain of our multichannel customer relationship management applications
also include fees paid to salesforce.com, inc. for our use of the Salesforce1 Platform and the associated hosting
infrastructure and data center operations that are provided by salesforce.com. We intend to continue to invest
additional resources in our subscription services to enhance our product offerings and increase our delivery capacity.
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For example, we may add or expand third-party data center capacity in the future and continue to make investments in
the availability and security of our solutions. The timing of when we incur these additional expenses will affect our
cost of revenues in absolute dollars in the affected periods.

Cost of professional services and other revenues consists primarily of employee-related expenses associated with
providing these services, including salaries, benefits and stock-based compensation expense, the cost of third-party
subcontractors, travel costs and allocated overhead. The cost of providing professional services is significantly higher
as a percentage of the related revenues than for our subscription services due to the direct labor costs and costs of
third-party subcontractors.

Operating Expenses

We accumulate certain costs such as building depreciation, office rent, utilities and other facilities costs and allocate
them across the various departments based on headcount. We refer to these costs as “allocated overhead.”

Research and Development. Research and development expenses consist primarily of employee-related expenses,
third-party consulting fees and allocated overhead, offset by any internal-use software development costs capitalized
during the same period. We
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continue to focus our research and development efforts on adding new features and applications, increasing the
functionality and enhancing the ease of use of our cloud-based applications.

Sales and Marketing. Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of employee-related expenses, sales
commissions, marketing program costs, amortization expense associated with purchased intangibles related to our
customer contracts, customer relationships and brand, travel-related expenses and allocated overhead. Sales
commissions and other program spend costs are expensed as incurred. Consequently, the recognition of this expense
on our income statement generally precedes the recognition of the related revenue.

General and Administrative. General and administrative expenses consist of employee-related expenses for our
executive, finance and accounting, legal, employee success, management information systems personnel and other
administrative employees. In addition, general and administrative expenses include third-party professional services
costs, including legal costs and professional fees, acquisition-related transaction costs, other corporate expenses and
allocated overhead.

Other Expense, Net

Other income, net consists primarily of transaction gains or losses on foreign currency, net of interest income and
amortization of investments.

Provision for Income Taxes

Provision for income taxes consists of federal and state income taxes in the United States and income taxes in certain
foreign jurisdictions. See note 9 of the notes to our condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Results of Operations

The following tables set forth selected condensed consolidated statements of operations data and such data as a
percentage of total revenues for each of the periods indicated:

For the three
months ended

April 30,
2016 2015
(in thousands)

Consolidated Statements of Income Data:
Revenues:
Subscription services $96,032 $68,894
Professional services and other 23,732 21,029
Total revenues 119,764 89,923
Cost of revenues(1):
Cost of subscription services 21,745 15,873
Cost of professional services and other 19,346 16,112
Total cost of revenues 41,091 31,985
Gross profit 78,673 57,938
Operating expenses(1):
Research and development 22,073 12,957
Sales and marketing 26,723 15,496
General and administrative 12,071 8,560
Total operating expenses 60,867 37,013
Operating income 17,806 20,925
Other income, net 2,747 763
Income before income taxes 20,553 21,688
Provision for income taxes 8,044 8,706
Net income $12,509 $12,982

(1) Includes stock-based compensation as
follows:

Cost of revenues:
Cost of subscription services $209 $111
Cost of professional services and other 1,178 742
Research and development 2,394 1,383
Sales and marketing 2,455 1,120
General and administrative 1,907 1,443
Total stock-based compensation $8,143 $4,799
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For the three
months ended

April 30,
2016 2015

Consolidated Statements of Income Data:
Revenues:
Subscription services 80.2 % 76.6 %
Professional services and other 19.8 23.4
Total revenues 100.0 100.0
Cost of revenues:
Cost of subscription services 18.2 17.7
Cost of professional services and other 16.2 17.9
Total cost of revenues 34.4 35.6
Gross profit 65.6 64.4
Operating expenses:
Research and development 18.4 14.4
Sales and marketing 22.3 17.2
General and administrative 10.1 9.5
Total operating expenses 50.8 41.1
Operating income 14.8 23.3
Other income, net 2.3 0.8
Income before income taxes 17.1 24.1
Provision for income taxes 6.7 9.7
Net income 10.4 % 14.4 %

Revenues

For the three months
ended

April 30,
2016 2015 % Change
(dollars in thousands)

Revenues:
Subscription services $96,032 $68,894 39 %
Professional services and other 23,732 21,029 13
Total revenues $119,764 $89,923 33

Percentage of revenues:
Subscription services 80 % 77 %
Professional services and other 20 23
Total revenues 100 % 100 %
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Total revenues for the three months ended April 30, 2016 increased $29.8 million from the same period in the prior
year, of which $27.1 million was from growth in subscription services revenues. Eight percent of the increase in
subscription services revenues was attributable to orders from existing customers that were placed on or prior to April
30, 2015 and the renewal of such orders through April 30, 2016. Ninety-two percent of the increase in subscription
services revenues was attributable to new orders placed after April 30, 2015 to deploy our solutions to additional users
within our existing customer base and to new users at new customers, which includes orders from the acquired Zinc
Ahead business. New orders from existing customers consisted of expanded use of our solutions within a given
customer and the addition of solutions not previously utilized by a given customer. The geographic mix of
subscription services revenues, as measured by the estimated location of the end users for subscription services, were
53% from North America, 29% from Europe and other and 18% from Asia in the three months ended April 30, 2016
as compared to subscription services revenues of 53% from North America, 27% from Europe and other and 20%
from Asia in the three months ended April 30, 2015.

Professional services and other revenues for the three months ended April 30, 2016 increased $2.7 million from the
same period in the prior year. The increase in professional services revenues was due primarily to new customers
requesting implementation and deployment related professional services and existing customers requesting
professional services related to expanding deployments or the deployment of newly purchased solutions. The
geographic mix of professional services and other revenues, as measured by the
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estimated location of the end user for which the services were performed, were 61% from North America, 28% from
Europe and other and 11% from Asia in the three months ended April 30, 2016 as compared to professional services
and other revenues of 64% from North America, 25% from Europe and other and 11% from Asia in the three months
ended April 30, 2015. This shift in geographic revenue mix was primarily due to the more rapid rate of revenue
growth from deployments in Europe.

Subscription services revenues were 80% of total revenues for the three months ended April 30, 2016, compared to
77% of total revenues for the three months ended April 30, 2015, reflecting the faster growth rate of our subscription
services revenues as compared to the growth rate of our professional services and other revenues as our customers
expanded their use of our solutions across new divisions, new geographies, and new products.

Cost of Revenues and Gross Profit

For the three
months ended

April 30,
2016 2015 % Change
(dollars in thousands)

Cost of revenues:
Cost of subscription services $21,745 $15,873 37 %
Cost of professional services and other 19,346 16,112 20
Total cost of revenues $41,091 $31,985 28

Gross margin percentage:
Subscription services 77 % 77 %
Professional services and other 18 23
Total gross margin percentage 66 % 64 %
Gross profit $78,673 $57,938 36 %

Cost of revenues for the three months ended April 30, 2016 increased $9.1 million from the same period in the prior
year, of which $5.9 million was related to cost of subscription services. The increase in cost of subscription services
was primarily due to an increase in the number of users of our subscription services, which drove an increase of $1.7
million in fees paid to salesforce.com, a $1.2 million increase in third-party data center costs, a $1.1 million increase
in employee compensation-related costs (which includes the impact of an increase of $0.1 million in stock-based
compensation) and a $0.7 million increase in amortization of purchased intangibles. The increase in employee
compensation-related costs is primarily driven by increase in headcount during the period, including headcount from
the acquired Zinc Ahead business. We expect cost of subscription services revenues to increase in absolute dollars in
the near term, as we renew existing orders and enter into new orders for our subscription services which may result in
increased fees paid to salesforce.com and costs for additional third-party data center capacity. In addition, we expect
cost of subscription services revenues to decrease as a percentage of subscription services revenues in the near term,
as we receive a greater proportion of our subscription services revenues from our product offerings that have slightly
lower gross margins, including our Veeva Vault applications.

Cost of professional services and other revenues for the three months ended April 30, 2016 increased $3.2 million
from the same period in the prior year, primarily due to a $3.2 million increase in employee compensation-related
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costs (which includes the impact of an increase of $0.4 million in stock-based compensation). The increase in
employee compensation-related costs is primarily driven by increase in headcount during the period, including
headcount from the acquired Zinc Ahead business. We expect cost of professional services and other revenues to
increase as we add personnel to our professional services organization worldwide.

Gross profit as a percentage of total revenues for the three months ended April 30, 2016 and 2015 was 66% and 64%,
respectively. The increases compared to the prior periods is largely due to an increase in the proportion of total
revenues attributable to subscription services revenues as compared to professional services and other revenues, which
have higher gross margins, and the continued growth of Veeva Vault, Veeva Network master data management
solutions, and our newer multichannel customer relationship management applications that compliment Veeva CRM,
all of which have slightly higher gross margins than our core Veeva CRM application.

Operating Expenses and Operating Margin

Operating expenses include research and development, sales and marketing and general and administrative expenses.
As we continue to invest in our growth through hiring, and as we realize the full impact of the additional headcount
and operating expenses
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associated with the Zinc Ahead business, we expect operating expenses to increase in absolute dollars and as a
percentage of revenue to continue for the foreseeable future, which may result in a slight decrease in our operating
margin.  

Research and Development

For the three
months ended

April 30,
2016 2015 % Change
(dollars in thousands)

Research and development $22,073 $12,957 70 %
Percentage of total revenues 18 % 14 %

Research and development expenses for the three months ended April 30, 2016 increased $9.1 million from the same
period in the prior year, primarily due to an increase of $7.3 million in employee compensation-related costs (which
includes the impact of an increase of $1.0 million in stock-based compensation) resulting from increased headcount
during the period. The expansion of our headcount in this area is to support the increasing number of products that are
under development across our solution offerings, and to a lesser extent headcount from the acquired Zinc Ahead
business. We also had an increase of $0.5 million in third-party consulting services related to the development of our
solution offerings and an increase in facility related expenses of $0.5 million primarily resulting from the move into
our new corporate headquarters.

We expect research and development expenses to increase in absolute dollars in the near term, primarily due to higher
headcount as we continue to add research and development personnel and invest in our solutions.

Sales and Marketing

For the three
months ended

April 30,
2016 2015 % Change
(dollars in thousands)

Sales and marketing $26,723 $15,496 72 %
Percentage of total revenues 22 % 17 %

Sales and marketing expenses for the three months ended April 30, 2016 increased $11.2 million from the same period
in the prior year, primarily due to an increase of $8.5 million in employee compensation-related costs (which includes
the impact of an increase of $1.4 million in sales commissions and an increase of $1.3 million in stock-based
compensation), a $0.9 million increase in amortization expense primarily associated with the Zinc Ahead purchased
intangibles related to our to customer contracts, customer relationships and brand, and a $0.6 million increase in
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travel-related costs. The increase in employee compensation-related costs is primarily driven by increase in headcount
during the period, including headcount from the acquired Zinc Ahead business.

We expect sales and marketing expenses to continue to grow in absolute dollars in the near term, primarily due to
employee-related expenses as we increase our headcount to support our sales and marketing efforts associated with
our newer solutions and our continued expansion of our international sales capacity across all our solutions.

General and Administrative

For the three
months ended

April 30,
2016 2015 % Change
(dollars in thousands)

General and administrative $12,071 $8,560 41 %
Percentage of total revenues 10 % 10 %

General and administrative expenses for the three months ended April 30, 2016 increased $3.5 million from the same
period in the prior year, primarily due to increases of $1.7 million in employee compensation-related costs (which
includes the impact of an increase of $0.5 million in stock-based compensation), and a $1.3 million in deferred
compensation associated with the acquired Zinc Ahead business. The increase in employee compensation-related
costs is primarily driven by increase in headcount during the period, including headcount from the acquired Zinc
Ahead business.
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We expect general and administrative expenses to slightly increase in absolute dollars in the near term, primarily due
to higher headcount and additional expenses, such as professional services fees, as we continue to invest in our
infrastructure related to the growth of our business and international expansion..

Other Income (Expense), Net

For the three
months ended

April 30,
2016 2015 % Change
(dollars in thousands)

Other income, net $2,747 $763 260%

Other income for the three months ended April 30, 2016 increased $2.0 million from the prior year period, primarily
due to an increase of $1.8 million in foreign currency gain. We continue to experience foreign currency fluctuations
primarily due to the volatility in the value of the U.S. Dollar against the Euro and the impact resulting from the
periodic re-measurement of our foreign currency balances that are denominated in currencies other than the functional
currency of the entities in which they are recorded. Our results of operations are subject to fluctuations due to changes
in foreign currency exchange rates, particularly changes in the Euro, British Pound Sterling, Japanese Yen and
Chinese Yuan. We may continue to experience favorable or adverse foreign currency impacts due to any additional
volatility in these currencies.

Provision for Income Taxes

For the three
months ended

April 30,
2016 2015 % Change
(dollars in thousands)

Income before income taxes $20,553 $21,688 -5 %
Provision for income taxes 8,044 8,706 (8 )
Effective tax rate 39.1 % 40.1 %

Our effective tax rate in all periods is the result of the mix of income earned in various tax jurisdictions that incur a
broad range of income tax rates. The provision for income taxes differs from the tax computed at the U.S. federal
statutory income tax rate due primarily to foreign earnings considered as indefinitely reinvested in foreign operations,
state taxes, the permanent reenactment of the U.S. research and development tax credit which was signed into law in
December 2015, equity compensation and the U.S. domestic production activity deduction. Future effective tax rates
could be adversely affected if earnings are lower than anticipated in countries where we have lower statutory tax rates,
by unfavorable changes in tax laws and regulations or by adverse rulings in tax related litigation. Differing tax rates in
various jurisdictions could harm our results of operations and financial condition by increasing our overall tax rate.
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For the three months ended April 30, 2016, our provision for income taxes decreased $0.7 million from the prior
period, primarily due to a decrease in income before taxes. Our effective tax rate decreased by 1.0% primarily due to
the permanent reenactment of the U.S. Research and Development Tax credit which was signed into law in December
2015.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

Regulation S-K Item 10(e), “Use of Non-GAAP Financial Measures in Commission Filings,” defines and prescribes the
conditions for use of non-GAAP financial measures. Our measures of non-GAAP operating income, non-GAAP net
income and non-GAAP fully diluted net income per share each meet the definition of a non-GAAP financial measure.

Non-GAAP operating income and non-GAAP net income

We use the non-GAAP measures of non-GAAP operating income and non-GAAP net income to provide an additional
view of operational performance by excluding certain expenses and benefits that are not directly related to
performance in any particular period. In addition to our GAAP measures, we use these non-GAAP measures internally
for budgeting and resource allocation purposes and in analyzing our financial results. We believe that these
non-GAAP measures are useful to investors and reflect our ongoing operating results and trends in a manner that
allows for meaningful period-to-period comparisons and analysis of trends in our business in comparing our financial
measures with other companies in our industry, many of which present similar non-GAAP financial measures to
investors.
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We define non-GAAP net income as our total net income excluding the following items. In each case, for the reasons
set forth below, we believe that excluding the item provides useful information to investors and others in
understanding and evaluating the impact of certain non-cash items to our operating results and future prospects in the
same manner as it does for us, in comparing financial results across accounting periods and to those of peer companies
and to better understand the impact of these non-cash items on our gross margin and operating performance. These
items are excluded because the decisions which gave rise to them are not made to increase revenue in a particular
period but are made for our long-term benefit over multiple periods, and we are not able to change or affect these
items in any particular period. Additionally, as significant, unusual or discrete events occur, the income statement
impact thereof may be excluded in the period in which the events occur.

·Stock-based compensation expenses. We excluded stock-based compensation expenses from our non-GAAP
measures primarily because they are non-cash expenses that we exclude from our internal management reporting
processes. We also find it useful to exclude certain non-cash charges to assess the appropriate level of various
operating expenses to assist in budgeting, planning and forecasting future periods. Moreover, because of varying
available valuation methodologies, subjective assumptions and the variety of award types that companies can use
under FASB ASC Topic 718, we believe excluding stock-based compensation expenses allows investors to make
meaningful comparisons between our recurring core business operating results and those of other companies.

·Amortization of purchased intangibles. We incur amortization expense for purchased intangible assets in connection
with acquisitions of certain businesses and technologies. Amortization of intangible assets is a non-cash expense and
is inconsistent in amount and frequency and is significantly affected by the timing and size of acquisitions. Because
these costs have already been incurred and cannot be recovered, and are non-cash expenses, we exclude these
expenses for internal management reporting purposes. We also find it useful to exclude these charges when
assessing the appropriate level of various operating expenses to assist in budgeting, planning and forecasting future
periods. Investors should note that the use of intangible assets contributed to our revenues earned during the periods
presented and will contribute to our future period revenues as well. Amortization of purchased intangible assets will
recur in future periods.

·Capitalization of internal-use software development expenses and the subsequent amortization of the capitalized
expenses. We capitalize certain costs incurred for the development of computer software for internal use and then
amortize those costs over the estimated useful life. Capitalization and amortization of software development costs
can vary significantly depending on the timing of products reaching technological feasibility and being made
generally available. Our internal management reporting processes exclude both the capitalization of software (which
would otherwise result in a reduction in net research and development operating expenses) and the amortization of
capitalized software (which would otherwise result in an increase in cost of subscription revenues) when preparing
budgets, plans and reviewing internal performance. Moreover, because of the variety of approaches taken and the
subjective assumptions made by other companies in this area, we believe that excluding the effects of capitalized
software costs allows investors to make more meaningful comparisons between our operating results and those of
other companies.

·Deferred compensation associated with the Zinc Ahead acquisition. The Zinc Ahead share purchase agreement, as
revised, called for $9.6 million in share purchase consideration to be deferred and paid to certain former Zinc Ahead
employees at a rate of one-third of the deferred consideration amount per year only in the event such former Zinc
Ahead employees remain employed by us on each deferred consideration payment date. In accordance with GAAP,
these payments are being accounted for as deferred compensation and the expense is recognized over the requisite
service period. We view this deferred compensation expense as an unusual acquisition cost associated with the Zinc
Ahead acquisition and find it useful to exclude it in order to assess the appropriate level of various operating
expenses to assist in budgeting, planning and forecasting future periods. We believe excluding this deferred
compensation expense from our non-GAAP measures may allow investors to make more meaningful comparisons
between our recurring operating results and those of other companies.

·Income tax effects on the difference between GAAP and non-GAAP costs and expenses. The income tax effects that
are excluded from the non-GAAP measures relate to the tax impact on the difference between GAAP and
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non-GAAP costs and expenses due to stock-based compensation, purchased intangibles, capitalized internal-use
software and deferred compensation associated with the Zinc Ahead acquisition for GAAP and non-GAAP
measures.

We define non-GAAP operating income as our operating income, as reported on our condensed consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, excluding the portions of stock-based compensation, amortization of purchased
intangibles, capitalization of expenses associated with development of internal-use software and the subsequent
amortization of the capitalized expenses and deferred compensation associated with the Zinc Ahead acquisition that
are included in cost of revenues and operating expenses.
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Non-GAAP net income per share

Management uses the non-GAAP net income per share to provide an additional view of performance by excluding
items that are not directly related to performance in any particular period in the earnings per share calculation.

We define non-GAAP net income per share as our non-GAAP net income, which excludes the above components,
divided by diluted shares outstanding, as reported on our condensed consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Limitations on the use of Non-GAAP financial measures

A limitation of our non-GAAP financial measures of non-GAAP operating income, non-GAAP net income and
non-GAAP net income per share is that they do not have uniform definitions. Our definitions will likely differ from
the definitions used by other companies, including peer companies, and therefore comparability may be limited. Thus,
our non-GAAP measures of non-GAAP operating income, non-GAAP net income and non-GAAP net income per
share should be considered in addition to, not as a substitute for, or in isolation from, measures prepared in accordance
with GAAP. Additionally, in the case of stock-based expense, if we did not pay a portion of compensation in the form
of stock-based expense, the cash salary expense included in costs of revenues and operating expenses would be higher
which would affect our cash position and our non-GAAP profitability.

The non-GAAP financial measures are limited in value because they exclude certain items that may have a material
impact upon our reported financial results. In addition, they are subject to inherent limitations as they reflect the
exercise of judgments by management about which items are adjusted to calculate our non-GAAP financial measures.
Veeva compensates for these limitations by analyzing current and future results on a GAAP basis as well as a
non-GAAP basis and also by providing GAAP measures in our public disclosures.

Non-GAAP financial measures should not be considered in isolation from, or as a substitute for, financial information
prepared in accordance with GAAP. Investors are encouraged to review the reconciliation of these non-GAAP
measures to their most directly comparable GAAP financial measure and not to rely on any single financial measure
to evaluate our business. A reconciliation of GAAP to the non-GAAP financial measures has been provided in the
tables below.

We compensate for these limitations by reconciling non-GAAP operating income, non-GAAP net income and
non-GAAP earnings per share to the most comparable GAAP financial measure. We encourage investors and others to
review our financial information in its entirety, not to rely on any single financial measure and to view our non-GAAP
financial measures in conjunction with the most comparable GAAP financial measures.
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The following table reconciles the specific items excluded from GAAP operating income and net income in the
calculation of non-GAAP operating income, non-GAAP net income and non-GAAP net income per share for the
periods shown below:

For the three
months ended

April 30,
2016 2015

Operating income on a GAAP basis $17,806 $20,925
Stock-based compensation expense 8,143 4,799
Amortization of purchased intangibles 2,051 413
Capitalization of internal-use software (140 ) (22 )
Amortization of internal-use software 177 189
Deferred compensation associated with Zinc Ahead acquisition 1,413 —
Operating income on a non-GAAP basis $29,450 $26,304

Net income on a GAAP basis $12,509 $12,982
Stock-based compensation expense 8,143 4,799
Amortization of purchased intangibles 2,051 413
Capitalization of internal-use software (140 ) (22 )
Amortization of internal-use software 177 189
Deferred compensation associated with Zinc Ahead acquisition 1,413 —
Income tax effect on non-GAAP adjustments (2,980 ) (1,213 )
Net income on a non-GAAP basis $21,173 $17,148

Net income allocated to participating securities on a GAAP basis $(4 ) $(18 )
Net income allocated to participating securities from non-GAAP adjustments(1) (2 ) (6 )
Net income allocated to participating securities on a non-GAAP basis (6 ) (24 )
Net income attributable to common stockholders on a non-GAAP basis $21,167 $17,124

Diluted net income per share on a GAAP basis $0.09 $0.09
Stock-based compensation expense 0.06 0.04
Amortization of purchased intangibles 0.01 —
Capitalization of internal-use software — —
Amortization of internal-use software — —
Deferred compensation associated with Zinc Ahead acquisition 0.01 —
Income tax effect on non-GAAP adjustments (0.02 ) (0.01 )
Diluted net income per share on a non-GAAP basis $0.15 $0.12

Liquidity and Capital Resources
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For the three months
ended

April 30,
2016 2015
(in thousands)

Net cash provided by operating activities $109,360 $41,791
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 82 (67,811)
Net cash provided by financing activities 4,205 4,335
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 116 (7 )
Net change in cash and cash equivalents $113,763 $(21,692)

Our principal sources of liquidity continue to be comprised of our cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments,
as well as cash flows generated from our operations. As of April 30, 2016, our cash, cash equivalents and short-term
investments totaled $457.4 million, of which $18.1 million represented cash and cash equivalents held outside of the
United States. Non-U.S. cash and cash equivalents have been earmarked for indefinite reinvestment in our operations
outside the United States and, therefore, no U.S. current or deferred taxes have been accrued related to these balances.
We believe our U.S. sources of cash and liquidity are sufficient to meet our business needs in the United States and do
not expect that we will need to repatriate the funds we have designated as indefinitely reinvested outside the United
States. Under current tax laws, should our plans change and we were to choose to repatriate some or all
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of the funds we have designated as indefinitely reinvested outside the United States, such amounts would be subject to
U.S. income taxes and applicable non-U.S. income and withholding taxes.

We have financed our operations primarily through cash generated from operations. We believe our existing cash,
cash equivalents and short-term investments generated from operations will be sufficient to meet our working capital
and capital expenditure needs over at least the next 12 months. Our future capital requirements will depend on many
factors including our growth rate, subscription renewal activity, the timing and extent of spending to support product
development efforts, the expansion of sales and marketing activities, the ongoing investments in data centers, the
introduction of new and enhanced solutions and the continuing market acceptance of our solutions. We may in the
future enter into arrangements to acquire or invest in complementary businesses, services and technologies and
intellectual property rights. We may be required to seek additional equity or debt financing. In the event that
additional financing is required from outside sources, we may not be able to raise it on terms acceptable to us or at all.
If we are unable to raise additional capital when desired, our business, operating results and financial condition would
be adversely affected.

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Our largest source of operating cash inflows is cash collections from our customers for subscription services. We also
generate significant cash flows from our professional services arrangements. Our primary uses of cash from operating
activities are for employee-related expenditures, fees to salesforce.com, third-party professional services costs,
employee travel costs, and leased facilities.

Net cash provided by operating activities was $109.4 million for the three months ended April 30, 2016. Our cash
provided by operating activities during the three months ended April 30, 2016 primarily reflected our net income of
$12.5 million, adjustments for non-cash items of $10.9 million, and the net increase in our operating assets and
liabilities of $85.9 million. Non-cash charges included $8.1 million of stock-based compensation expense and $3.4
million of depreciation and amortization expense. The net changes in operating assets and liabilities included a $63.2
million decrease in accounts receivable, which was primarily driven by increased billings and collections during the
period, and a $23.4 million increase in deferred revenue, which was primarily driven by increased billings from new
and existing customers during the period. These sources of cash were partially offset by a $2.9 million decrease in
accrued expenses and other current liabilities.

The cash flow from operating activities for the three months ended April 30, 2016 includes the vast majority of cash
flows from operating activities that we expect for the remainder of the fiscal year ending January 31, 2017. As a
result, we expect cash flows from operating activities to be minimal in future quarterly periods during this fiscal year.

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

The cash flows from investing activities primarily relate to cash used for the acquisition of businesses and the
purchase of marketable securities, net of maturities. We also use cash to invest in capital assets to support our growth,
including the build-out of our new corporate headquarters located in Pleasanton, California.

Net cash provided by investing activities was $0.1 million for the three months ended April 30, 2016 resulting
primarily from $2.3 million provided from net maturities of marketable securities, offset by $2.1 million cash used for
purchases of property and equipment.

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

The cash flows from financing activities relate to excess tax benefits from our stock plans and stock option exercises.
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Net cash provided by financing activities was $4.2 million for the three months ended April 30, 2016 resulting from
$2.9 million in excess tax benefits from our employee stock plans and $1.3 million in proceeds from employee stock
option exercises.

Commitments

Our principal commitments primarily consist of obligations for minimum payment commitments to salesforce.com,
leases for office space and a minimum payment commitment to VYRE Limited. On March 3, 2014, we amended our
agreement with salesforce.com. The agreement, as amended, requires that we meet minimum order commitments of
$500 million over the term of the agreement, which ends on September 1, 2025, including “true-up” payments if the
orders we place with salesforce.com have not equaled or exceeded the following aggregate amounts within the
timeframes indicated: (i) $250 million for the period from March 1, 2014 to September 1, 2020 and (ii) the full
amount of $500 million by September 1, 2025. Additionally, Zinc Ahead, a recently
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acquired business, has an authorized OEM agreement with VYRE Limited for use and resale of certain proprietary
products used for digital asset management in combination with the Zinc Ahead product offerings. As of April 30,
2016, the future non-cancelable minimum payments under these commitments were as follows:

Payments Due by Period

Total

Less
than 1
Year

1-3

Years

3-5

Years

More
than

5 Years
(in thousands)

Purchase commitments $397,478 $4,982 $400 $142,097 $250,000
Operating lease obligations 12,598 2,797 5,339 2,938 1,524
Total $410,076 $7,779 $5,739 $145,035 $251,524

The amounts in the table above are associated with agreements that are enforceable and legally binding, which specify
significant terms including payment terms, related services and the approximate timing of the transaction. Obligations
under agreements that we can cancel without a significant penalty are not included in the table.

We anticipate leasing additional office space in various locations around the world to support our growth. In addition,
our existing lease agreements often provide us with an option to renew. We expect our future operating lease
obligations will increase as we expand our operations.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any relationships with unconsolidated organizations or financial partnerships, such as structured
finance or special purpose entities that would have been established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet
arrangements or other contractually narrow or limited purposes.
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Item 3.Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk. 
Foreign currency exchange risk

Our results of operations and cash flows are subject to fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates,
particularly changes in the British Pound Sterling, Euro and Japanese Yen. We continue to experience foreign
currency fluctuations primarily due to the volatility in the value of the U.S. Dollar against the Euro and the impact
resulting from the periodic re-measurement of our foreign currency balances that are denominated in currencies other
than the functional currency of the entities in which they are recorded. Changes in exchange rates may negatively
affect our revenues and other operating results as expressed in U.S. dollars. For the three months ended April 30, 2016
and 2015, we had a foreign currency gains of $2.2 million and $0.4 million, respectively.

We have experienced and will continue to experience fluctuations in our net income as a result of transaction gains or
losses related to revaluing certain current asset and current liability balances that are denominated in currencies other
than the functional currency of the entities in which they are recorded. While we have not engaged in the hedging of
our foreign currency transactions to date, we are currently evaluating the costs and benefits of initiating such a
program and may, in the future, hedge selected significant transactions or net monetary exposure positions
denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar.

Interest rate sensitivity

We had cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments totaling $457.4 million as of April 30, 2016. This amount
was invested primarily in U.S. agency obligations, U.S. treasury securities, corporate notes and bonds, commercial
paper, asset-backed securities, and money market funds. The cash and cash equivalents are held for working capital
purposes. Our investments are made for capital preservation purposes. We do not enter into investments for trading or
speculative purposes.

Our cash equivalents and our portfolio of marketable securities are subject to market risk due to changes in interest
rates, which could affect our results of operations. Fixed rate securities may have their market value adversely affected
due to a rise in interest rates, while floating rate securities may produce less income than expected if interest rates fall.
Due in part to these factors, our future investment income may fluctuate due to changes in interest rates or we may
suffer losses in principal if we are forced to sell securities that decline in market value due to changes in interest rates.
However, because we classify our marketable securities as “available for sale,” no gains or losses are recognized due to
changes in interest rates unless such securities are sold prior to maturity or declines in fair value are determined to be
other-than-temporary. Our fixed-income portfolio is subject to interest rate risk.

An immediate increase of 100-basis points in interest rates would have resulted in a $1.5 million market value
reduction in our investment portfolio as of April 30, 2016. All of our investments earn less than 100-basis points and
as a result, an immediate decrease of 100-basis points in interest rates would have increased the market value by $1.1
million as of April 30, 2016. This estimate is based on a sensitivity model that measures market value changes when
changes in interest rates occur. Fluctuations in the value of our investment securities caused by a change in interest
rates (gains or losses on the carrying value) are recorded in other comprehensive income, and are realized only if we
sell the underlying securities.
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Item 4.Controls and Procedures. 
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of April 30, 2016. The term “disclosure controls and
procedures,” as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended
(Exchange Act), means controls and other procedures of a company that are designed to ensure that information
required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s
(SEC) rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures
designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under
the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the company’s management, including its principal executive
and principal financial officers, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Based on our management’s evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of
April 30, 2016, our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective because of a material weakness in the design
of our internal controls related to our review of the inputs to the valuation of acquired intangible assets disclosed in
our Annual Report on Form 10-K for our fiscal year ended January 31, 2016.

Notwithstanding this material weakness, management has concluded that the condensed consolidated financial
statements included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q fairly state, in all material respects, our financial position,
results of operations and cash flows for the periods presented.

Remediation Efforts to Address the Material Weakness

In response to the material weakness identified in the Annual Report on Form 10-K for our fiscal year ended
January 31, 2016, we have begun to develop plans to remediate the material weakness. Among other things, we expect
to continue to:

· improve the design of internal controls related to management’s review of the completeness and accuracy of key
assumptions and financial data used to measure the fair value of acquired intangible assets and the involvement of
specialists;

· improve the design of internal controls related to the evidence and documentation of internal control procedures with
respect to the process of determining fair value of acquired intangible assets; and

·sufficiently distinguish our internal controls from the process we undertake to measure the fair value of acquired
intangible assets.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting identified in connection with the evaluation
required by Rule 13a-15(d) and 15d-15(d) of the Exchange Act that occurred during the fiscal quarter ended April 30,
2016 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial
reporting other than the material weakness and remediation efforts noted above.

Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls

Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, do not expect that our disclosure
controls or our internal control over financial reporting will prevent all errors and all fraud. A control system, no
matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of
the control system are met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource
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constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations
in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of
fraud, if any, within the Company have been detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments
in decision-making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because of a simple error or mistake. Additionally,
controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people or by
management override of the controls. The design of any system of controls is also based in part upon certain
assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in
achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions; over time, controls may become inadequate because of
changes in conditions, or the degree of compliance with policies or procedures may deteriorate. Because of the
inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be
detected.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1.Legal Proceedings.
Criterion Capital Section 16(b) Matter Seeking Disgorgement Short-swing Profits on Behalf of Veeva.

On June 24, 2015, a purported stockholder filed a complaint pursuant to Section 16(b) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”) in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York against Criterion Capital
Management, LLC, Criterion Capital Partners Master Fund, L.P., Criterion Capital Partners Master Fund GP, Ltd.,
Criterion Horizons Master Fund, L.P., Criterion Horizons Master Fund GP, Ltd., Criterion Vista Master Fund GP,
L.P., Christopher H. Lord, David Riley, Tomoko Fortune (the “Criterion Defendants”), and Veeva Systems Inc. as
nominal defendant (Greenfield v. Criterion Capital Mgmt., LLC et al. (15-CV-4937)).  Thereafter, on August 3, 2015,
the case was transferred to the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of California (15-CV-3583).

The action is purportedly brought on behalf of us and alleges that between March and December 2014 and in 2015,
the Criterion Defendants purchased and sold our securities which resulted in illicit profits that are allegedly subject to
disgorgement under the short-swing trading proscriptions in Section 16(b) of the Exchange Act.  Due to the alleged
failure by the Criterion Defendants to comply with their reporting obligations under the Exchange Act, the complaint
does not specify the precise amount of alleged trades subject to disgorgement, other than estimating that the amount of
profits in 2014 subject to disgorgement is in the “millions,” and the amount of profits in 2015 “total at least
$500,000.”  The complaint seeks disgorgement of any and all short-swing profits on behalf of us, plus attorneys’ fees
and expenses. The complaint does not seek damages of any kind from us.

On November 19, 2015, the Criterion Defendants moved to dismiss the complaint. A hearing on the Criterion
Defendants’ motion to dismiss took place on May 18, 2016.  We did not join the Criterion Defendants in filing a
motion to dismiss, and, pursuant to Court order, are not required to answer the complaint until after the Court has
ruled on the Criterion Defendants’ motion to dismiss.

We have engaged counsel to monitor and investigate whether the claims against the Criterion Defendants have
merit.  Our investigation is continuing.

From time to time, we may be involved in other legal proceedings and subject to claims incident to the ordinary
course of business. Although the results of such legal proceedings and claims cannot be predicted with certainty, we
believe we are not currently a party to any legal proceedings, the outcome of which, if determined adversely to us,
would individually or taken together have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results, cash flows or
financial position. Regardless of the outcome, such proceedings can have an adverse impact on us because of defense
and settlement costs, diversion of resources and other factors, and there can be no assurances that favorable outcomes
will be obtained.
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Item 1A.Risk Factors.  
Investing in our Class A common stock involves a high degree of risk. You should consider carefully the risks and
uncertainties described below and in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations”, together with all of the other information in this report, including our condensed consolidated financial
statements and related notes, before investing in our Class A common stock. The risks and uncertainties described
below are not the only ones we face. If any of the following risks actually occurs, our business, financial condition,
results of operations and prospects could be materially and adversely affected. In that event, the price of our Class A
common stock could decline and you could lose part or all of your investment.

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry

Our quarterly results may fluctuate significantly, which make it difficult to predict our future operating results and
could prevent us from meeting investor expectations, or our own guidance, and which could adversely impact the
value of our Class A common stock.

Our quarterly results of operations, including our revenues, gross margin, operating margin, profitability, cash flows
and deferred revenue, may vary significantly in the future for a variety of reasons, including those listed elsewhere in
this “Risk Factors” section, and period-to-period comparisons of our operating results may not be meaningful.
Accordingly, our quarterly results should not be relied upon as an indication of future performance. Additionally, we
issue guidance quarterly regarding our expectations for certain future financial results. Our ability to forecast our
future operating results, including revenues, gross margin, operating margin, profitability, cash flows and deferred
revenue, is limited, including by our relatively limited operating history, and subject to a number of uncertainties,
including incomplete information and our expectations as to certain future events that we do not control. Our guidance
may prove to be incorrect and actual results may differ materially from our guidance. Fluctuations in our results or
failure to achieve our forecasts and guidance may adversely impact the value of our Class A common stock.  

We expect the future growth rate of our revenues to decline.

In our fiscal years ended January 31, 2014, 2015 and 2016, our total revenues grew by 62%, 49% and 31%,
respectively, as compared to total revenues from the prior fiscal years. In our fiscal quarter ended April 30, 2016, our
total revenues grew by 33% as compared to the same quarterly period from our prior fiscal year. We expect the
growth rate of our revenues to decline in future periods which may adversely impact the value of our Class A common
stock.

As our costs increase, we may not be able to sustain the level of profitability we have achieved in the past.

We expect our future expenses to increase as we continue to invest in our business. We expect to incur significant
future expenditures related to:

·developing new solutions, enhancing our existing solutions (including adapting certain of our Veeva Vault
applications for companies in regulated industries adjacent to life sciences) and improving the technology
infrastructure, scalability, availability, security and support for our solutions;

·expanding and deepening our relationships with our existing customer base, including expenditures related to
increasing the adoption of our solutions by the research and development departments of life sciences companies;

·sales and marketing, including expansion of our direct sales organization and global marketing programs;
·expansion of our professional services organization;
· international expansion;
· integrating the business and headcount of Zinc Ahead;
·employee compensation, including stock based compensation;
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· further build out of our new corporate headquarters located in Pleasanton, California; and
·general operations, IT systems and administration, including legal and accounting expenses related to being a public
company.

If our efforts to increase revenues and manage our expenses are not successful, or if we incur costs, damages, fines,
settlements or judgments as a result of other risks and uncertainties described in this report, we may not be able to
increase or sustain our historical levels of profitability.
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If our security measures are breached or unauthorized access to customer data is otherwise obtained, our solutions
may be perceived as not being secure, customers may reduce the use of or stop using our solutions and we may incur
significant liabilities.

Our solutions involve the storage and transmission of our customers’ proprietary information, including personal or
identifying information regarding their employees and the medical professionals whom their sales personnel contact,
sensitive proprietary data related to the regulatory submission process for new medical treatments, and other sensitive
information. As a result, unauthorized access or security breaches as a result of third-party action, employee error,
malfeasance or otherwise could result in the loss of information, litigation, indemnity obligations, damage to our
reputation and other liability. Because the techniques used to obtain unauthorized access or sabotage systems change
frequently and generally are not identified until they are launched against a target, we may be unable to anticipate
these techniques or to implement adequate preventative measures. Any or all of these issues could adversely affect our
ability to attract new customers, cause existing customers to elect to not renew their subscriptions, result in
reputational damage or subject us to third-party lawsuits, regulatory fines or other action or liability, which could
adversely affect our operating results. Our insurance may not be adequate to cover losses associated with such events,
and in any case, such insurance may not cover all of the types of costs, expenses and losses we could incur to respond
to and remediate a security breach. A security breach of another significant provider of cloud-based solutions may also
negatively impact the demand for our solutions.

The markets in which we participate are highly competitive, and if we do not compete effectively, our business and
operating results could be adversely affected.

The markets for our solutions are highly competitive. Our multichannel customer relationship management
applications compete with offerings from large global enterprise software vendors, such as Oracle Corporation, and
also compete with life sciences-specific customer relationship management providers, such as IMS Health Holding,
Inc. We also compete with a number of vendors of cloud-based and on-premise customer relationship management
applications that address only a portion of one of our customer relationship management solutions. Veeva Vault, our
regulated content and information management solutions, competes with offerings from large global content
management platform vendors such as EMC Corporation, Microsoft Corporation and OpenText Corporation. We also
compete with professional services companies that provide solutions on these platforms, such as Computer Sciences
Corporation, and with other life sciences specific providers. In the future, providers of horizontal cloud-based storage
products may seek to compete with our regulated content and information management solutions. In addition, we
recently announced that we will begin selling Veeva Vault to companies in regulated industries adjacent to life
sciences. We have no experience selling certain of our Veeva Vault applications to companies in regulated industries
adjacent to life sciences and anticipate competing with a plethora of existing solutions, including those listed above,
custom-built software developed by third-party vendors or in-house by our potential customers and niche software
providers. Our master data management solutions compete with master data software offerings from vendors such as
Informatica Corporation, IMS and other smaller providers. Our data and data services offerings compete with IMS
and many other data providers. We may also face competition from custom-built software developed by third-party
vendors or developed in-house by our potential customers, or from applications built by our customers or by third
parties on behalf of our customers using commercially available software platforms that are provided by third parties.
We may also face competition from companies that provide cloud-based solutions in different target or horizontal
markets that may develop applications or work with companies that operate in our target markets. With the
introduction of new technologies and market entrants, we expect competition to intensify in the future.

In some cases, our competitors are well-established providers of competitive solutions and have long-standing
relationships with many of our current and potential customers, including large pharmaceutical and emerging
biopharmaceutical companies. Oracle, EMC and IMS, for example, each have name recognition, a much longer
operating history, larger marketing budgets and significantly greater resources than we do.
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Many of our competitors may be able to devote greater resources to the development, promotion and sale of their
products and services than we are able. Such competitors may be able to initiate or withstand substantial price
competition, and may offer solutions competitive to certain of our solutions on a stand-alone basis at a lower price or
bundled as part of a larger product sale, including the bundling of software solutions and data. In addition, many of
our competitors have established marketing relationships, access to larger customer bases and distribution agreements
with consultants, system integrators and resellers that we do not have. Our competitors may also establish cooperative
relationships among themselves or with third parties that may further enhance their product offerings or resources. In
addition, in order to take advantage of customer demand for cloud-based solutions, such competitors may expand their
cloud-based solutions through acquisitions and organic development or may seek to partner with other leading cloud
providers. For instance, on April 1, 2015, IMS announced that its acquisition of the information solutions and CRM
businesses of Cegedim SA had closed. The combined entity is likely to intensely compete with us in a number of
product areas, including software solutions, data and data services, and such competition may negatively impact our
business. In addition, on May 3, 2016, IMS and Quintiles Transnational Holdings Inc. announced that the two
companies will be combined in an all-stock merger of equals transaction. The impact of this proposed transaction on
our competitive environment, if any, is uncertain.
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If our competitors’ products, services or technologies become more accepted than our solutions, if they are successful
in bringing their products or services to market earlier than ours, if their products or services are more technologically
capable than ours, or if customers replace our solutions with custom-built software, then our revenues could be
adversely affected. Pricing pressures and increased competition could result in reduced sales, reduced margins, losses
or a failure to maintain or improve our competitive market position, any of which could adversely affect our business.

In our fiscal year ended January 31, 2016, we derived approximately 79% of our subscription services revenues and
74% of our total revenues from our multichannel customer relationship management applications. Within
multichannel customer relationship management, our core Veeva CRM application has achieved substantial
penetration within the sales teams of pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies. If our efforts to sustain or further
increase the use and adoption of our customer relationship management applications do not succeed, the growth rate
of our revenues may decline.

In our fiscal year ended January 31, 2016, we derived approximately 79% of our subscription services revenues and
74% of our total revenues from our core sales automation solution, Veeva CRM, and the other multichannel customer
relationship management applications that are complementary to Veeva CRM. We have realized substantial sales
penetration of the available market for our core Veeva CRM application among pharmaceutical and biotechnology
companies. A critical factor for our continued growth is our ability to sell additional user subscriptions for Veeva
CRM and the other multichannel customer relationship management applications that are complementary to Veeva
CRM to our existing and new customers. Any factor adversely affecting sales of these applications—including
substantial penetration of the available market for our core Veeva CRM application, reductions in user subscriptions
due to acquisitions of or business combinations between our customers or increased purchasing scrutiny which may
result in reductions in user subscription or increased pricing pressure—could adversely affect the growth rate of our
sales, revenues, operating results and business.

If our newer solutions, including Veeva Vault, Veeva Network Customer Master, Veeva Network Product Master,
Veeva’s data offerings and our newer multichannel customer relationship management applications that complement
Veeva CRM, are not successfully adopted by new and existing customers, the growth rate of our revenues and
operating results will be adversely affected.

Our continued growth and profitability will depend on our ability to successfully develop and sell new solutions,
including Veeva Vault, Veeva Network Customer Master, Veeva Network Product Master, Veeva’s data offerings and
our newer multichannel customer relationship management applications that complement Veeva CRM. These
solutions were introduced relatively recently. Although combined revenues related to these solutions made up
approximately 21% and 26% of our subscription services revenues and total revenues, respectively, in the year ended
January 31, 2016 and the Veeva Vault solution, in particular, has begun to achieve market acceptance, it is uncertain
whether these solutions will continue to grow as a percentage of revenues at a pace significant enough to support our
expected growth. It may take us significant time, and we may incur significant expense to effectively market and sell
these solutions or to develop other new solutions and make enhancements to our existing solutions. If our newer
solutions do not continue to gain traction in the market, or other solutions that we may develop and introduce in the
future do not achieve market acceptance in a timely manner, the growth rate of our revenues and operating results may
be adversely affected.

Our revenue from professional services fees is volatile and may not increase from quarter to quarter or at all.

We derive a significant portion of our revenue from professional services fees. Our professional services revenues
fluctuate from quarter to quarter as a result of the achievement of milestones in our professional services
arrangements, and the requirements, complexity and timing of our customers’ implementation projects. Generally, a
customer’s ongoing need for professional services with respect to one or more of our solutions decreases as the
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implementation and full deployment of such solutions is completed. In addition, we believe that the implementation
projects for some of our newer software solutions will require a lower level of professional services as compared to
the implementation projects for our Veeva CRM application. Our customers may also choose to use third parties
rather than us for certain professional services related to our solutions. As a result of these and other factors, our
professional services revenues may not increase on a quarterly basis in the future or at all.

Our subscription agreements with our customers are typically for a term of one year. If our existing customers do not
renew their subscriptions annually, or do not buy additional solutions and user subscriptions from us, or renew at
lower fee levels, our business and operating results will suffer.

We derive a significant portion of our revenues from the renewal of existing subscription orders. The orders we enter
into with our customers for subscription services typically have a one-year term. However, more recently and with
respect to solutions other than our core sales automation solution, we have begun to enter into orders with terms of up
to five years. Our customers have no obligation to renew their subscriptions for our solutions after their orders expire.
Thus, securing the renewal of our subscription orders
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and selling additional solutions and user subscriptions is critical to our future operating results. Factors that may affect
the renewal rate for our solutions and our ability to sell additional solutions and user subscriptions include:

· the price, performance and functionality of our solutions;
· the availability, price, performance and functionality of competing solutions and services;
· the effectiveness of our professional services;
·our ability to develop complementary solutions, applications and services;

· the stability, performance and security of our hosting infrastructure and hosting
services; and

·the business environment of our customers and, in particular, acquisitions of or business combinations between our
customers or other business developments may result in reductions in user subscriptions.

In addition, our customers may negotiate terms less advantageous to us upon renewal, which may reduce our revenues
from these customers. As a customer’s total spend on Veeva solutions increases, we expect purchasing scrutiny at
renewal to increase as well, which may result in reductions in user subscriptions or increased pricing pressure. Other
factors that are not within our control may contribute to a reduction in our subscription services revenues. For
instance, our customers may reduce their number of sales representatives, which would result in a corresponding
reduction in the number of user subscriptions needed for some of our solutions and thus a lower aggregate renewal
fee. If our customers fail to renew their subscription orders, renew their subscription orders upon less favorable terms
or at lower fee levels, or fail to purchase new solutions, applications and professional services from us, our revenues
may decline or our future revenues may be constrained.

The loss of one or more of our key customers, or their failure to renew or expand user subscriptions, could slow the
growth rate of our revenues or cause our revenues to decline.

In our fiscal years ended January 31, 2014, 2015 and 2016, our top 10 customers accounted for 56%, 54% and 50% of
our total revenues, respectively. We rely on our reputation and recommendations from key customers in order to
promote our solutions to potential customers. The loss of any of our key customers, or a failure of one or more of
them to renew or expand user subscriptions, could have a significant impact on the growth rate of our revenues,
reputation and our ability to obtain new customers. In the event of an acquisition of one of our largest customers or a
business combination between two of our largest customers, we may suffer reductions in user subscriptions or
non-renewal of our agreements. We are also likely to face increasing purchasing scrutiny at renewal of these large
customer contracts, which may result in reductions in user subscription or increased pricing pressure. The business
impact of any of these negative events is particularly pronounced as to our largest customers.    

An inability to attract and retain highly skilled employees could adversely affect our business.

To execute our growth plan, we must attract and retain highly qualified personnel. Competition for these personnel is
intense, especially for engineers with high levels of experience in designing and developing software and
internet-related services and senior sales executives. We have, from time to time, experienced, and we expect to
continue to experience, difficulty in hiring and retaining employees with appropriate qualifications. Many of the
companies with which we compete for experienced personnel have greater resources than we have. If we hire
employees from competitors or other companies, their former employers may attempt to assert that these employees or
we have breached their legal obligations, resulting in a diversion of our time and resources. In addition, job candidates
and existing employees often consider the value of the stock awards they receive in connection with their
employment. If the perceived value of our stock awards declines, it may adversely affect our ability to recruit and
retain highly skilled employees. If we fail to attract new personnel or fail to retain and motivate our current personnel,
our business and future growth prospects could be adversely affected.
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We may acquire other companies or technologies, which could divert our management’s attention, result in additional
dilution to our stockholders and otherwise disrupt our operations and adversely affect our operating results.

We have in the past acquired and may in the future seek to acquire or invest in businesses, solutions or technologies
that we believe could complement or expand our solutions, enhance our technical capabilities or otherwise offer
growth opportunities. For instance, we recently acquired the key opinion leader business and products of Qforma, Inc.,
Mederi AG and other affiliated entities through a combination of stock and asset purchases. Further, on September 29,
2015, we completed our acquisition of Zinc Ahead, for a total closing consideration of approximately $119.9 million
in cash. In addition, the agreement, as revised, calls for $9.6 million payable at a rate of one-third per year to
employee shareholders and option holders of Zinc Ahead who remain employed with us.
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We have limited experience in acquiring other businesses. We may not be able to successfully integrate the acquired
personnel, operations and technologies, or effectively manage the combined business following the acquisition. We
also may not achieve the anticipated benefits from the acquired business due to a number of factors, including:

· inability to integrate or benefit from acquired technologies or services in a profitable manner;
·unanticipated costs or liabilities associated with the acquisition;
· incurrence of acquisition-related costs;
·difficulty integrating the accounting systems, operations and personnel of the acquired business;
·problems arising from differences in applicable accounting standards or practices of the acquired business (for
instance, non-U.S. businesses, like the Zinc Ahead business, may not be accustomed to preparing their financial
statements in accordance with GAAP) or difficulty identifying and correcting deficiencies in the internal controls
over financial reporting of the acquired business;

·difficulties and additional expenses associated with supporting legacy products and hosting infrastructure of the
acquired business;

·difficulty converting the customers of the acquired business onto our solutions and contract terms, including
disparities in the revenues, licensing, support or professional services model of the acquired company;

·diversion of management’s attention from other business concerns;
·adverse effects to our existing business relationships with business partners and customers as a result of the
acquisition;

·difficulty in retaining key personnel of the acquired business;
· the possibility of investigation by, or the failure to obtain required approvals from, governmental authorities on a
timely basis, if at all, under various regulatory schemes, including competition laws, which could, among other
things, delay or prevent us from completing a transaction, subject the transaction to divestiture after a transaction, or
otherwise restrict our ability to realize the expected financial or strategic goals of the acquisition;

·use of resources that are needed in other parts of our business; and
·use of substantial portions of our available cash to consummate the acquisition.

In addition, a significant portion of the purchase price of companies we acquire may be allocated to acquired goodwill
and other intangible assets, which must be assessed for impairment at least annually. In the future, if our acquisitions
do not yield expected returns, we may be required to take charges to our operating results based on this impairment
assessment process, which could adversely affect our results of operations. Acquisitions may also result in purchase
accounting adjustments, write-offs and restructuring charges which may negatively affect our results.

Acquisitions could also result in dilutive issuances of equity securities or the incurrence of debt, which could
adversely affect our operating results. In addition, if an acquired business fails to meet our expectations, our operating
results, business and financial position may suffer.

Additionally, the pursuit of potential acquisitions may divert the attention of management and cause us to incur
various expenses in identifying, investigating and pursuing suitable acquisitions, whether or not they are
consummated.

Defects or disruptions in our solutions could result in diminishing demand for our solutions, a reduction in our
revenues and subject us to substantial liability.

We generally release updates to our solutions three times per year. These updates may contain undetected errors when
first introduced or released. We have from time to time found defects in our solutions, and new errors in our existing
solutions may be detected in the future. Since our customers use our solutions for important aspects of their business,
any errors, defects, disruptions, service degradations or other performance problems with our solutions could hurt our
reputation and may damage our customers’ businesses. If that occurs, our customers may delay or withhold payment to
us, cancel their agreements with us, elect not to renew, make service credit claims, warranty claims or other claims
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against us, and we could lose future sales. The occurrence of any of these events could result in diminishing demand
for our solutions, a reduction of our revenues, an increase in our bad debt expense or an increase in collection cycles
for accounts receivable, or could require us to increase our warranty provisions or incur the expense of litigation or
substantial liability.

41

Edgar Filing: VEEVA SYSTEMS INC - Form 10-Q

82



We depend on data centers and computing infrastructure operated by third parties for our solutions, and any disruption
in these operations could adversely affect our business and subject us to liability.

Our commercial solutions are hosted from data centers operated by third parties, including salesforce.com with respect
to our solutions related to Veeva CRM. We do not control the operation of these facilities. The owners of our
non-salesforce.com data centers have no obligation to renew their agreements with us on commercially reasonable
terms, or at all. If we are unable to renew these agreements on commercially reasonable terms, or if one of our data
center operators is acquired, we may be required to transfer our servers and other infrastructure to new data center
facilities, and we may incur significant costs and possible service interruption in connection with doing so. In
addition, the operators of the data centers could decide to close their facilities without adequate notice. Moreover, any
financial difficulties, such as bankruptcy, faced by the operators of the data centers or any of the service providers
with whom we or they contract may have negative effects on our business, the nature and extent of which are difficult
to predict.

In addition, we use Amazon Web Services, which provides a scalable, distributed computing and storage
infrastructure platform for certain computing and data intensive functions of our solutions, such as analytic reporting,
large data set manipulation and storage. Given this, along with the fact that we cannot easily switch our Amazon Web
Services operations to another cloud provider, any disruption of or interference with our use of Amazon Web Services
would impact our operations and our business could be adversely impacted.

Problems faced by our third-party data center locations, including those operated by salesforce.com, Amazon Web
Services or other providers could adversely affect the experience of our customers. For example, in May 2016,
salesforce.com suffered a significant service outage with respect to a group of servers that hosts the Veeva CRM
solution for 38 of our Veeva CRM customers. The outage resulted in unplanned system unavailability of up to 21
hours for the associated Veeva customers, for which such customers may claim service level credits under their
contracts with us. We do not currently expect the impact of any claimed service level credits to be material to our
financial results for our fiscal quarter ending July 31, 2016. While full data recovery efforts are still underway, it is
also possible that the outage event may result in the loss of up to four hours of transactional data for certain
customers.  This outage and potential data loss may adversely impact our reputation and business. Additionally, if our
data centers, Amazon Web Services or other providers are unable to keep up with our growing needs for capacity, this
could have an adverse effect on our business. For example, a rapid expansion of our business could affect the service
levels at our data centers or cause such data centers and systems to fail. Any changes in third-party service levels at
our data centers, Amazon Web Services or other providers or any disruptions or other performance problems with our
solutions could adversely affect our reputation and may damage our customers’ stored files or result in lengthy
interruptions in our services or potential losses of customer data.

Interruptions in our services might reduce our revenues, cause us to issue refunds to customers for prepaid and unused
subscriptions, subject us to service level credit claims and potential liability or adversely affect our renewal rates.

If we fail to effectively manage our technical operations infrastructure, our existing customers may experience service
outages and our new customers may experience delays in the deployment of our solutions.

We have experienced significant growth in the number of users, transactions and data that our operations
infrastructure supports. We seek to maintain sufficient excess capacity in our operations infrastructure to meet the
needs of all of our customers. We also seek to maintain excess capacity to facilitate the rapid provision of new
customer deployments and the expansion of existing customer deployments. In addition, we need to properly manage
our technological operations infrastructure in order to support version control, changes in hardware and software
parameters and the evolution of our solutions. However, the provision of new hosting infrastructure requires adequate
lead-time. We have experienced, and may in the future experience, service disruptions, degradations, outages and
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other performance problems. These types of problems may be caused by a variety of factors, including infrastructure
changes, human or software errors, viruses, security attacks, fraud, spikes in customer usage, problems associated with
our third-party data center and network providers and denial of service issues. In some instances, we may not be able
to identify the cause or causes of these performance problems within an acceptable period of time. It is also possible
that such problems could result in losses of customer data. If we do not accurately predict our infrastructure
requirements, our existing customers may experience delays in the deployment of our solutions or service outages that
may subject us to financial penalties, financial liabilities and customer losses. For instance, our customer agreements
typically provide service level commitments on a quarterly basis. If we are unable to meet the stated service level
commitments or suffer extended periods of unavailability for our solutions, we may be contractually obligated to
provide these customers with service level credits or our customers may terminate their agreements. For example, in
May 2016, salesforce.com suffered a significant service outage which caused a service disruption for certain of our
Veeva CRM customers, as described in further detail in the risk factor above. Any extended service outages could
adversely affect our reputation, revenues and operating results.
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We have experienced rapid growth in recent periods, and if we fail to manage our growth effectively, we may be
unable to execute our business plan.

Since we were founded, we have experienced rapid growth and expansion of our operations. Our revenues, customer
count, product and service offerings, employees, countries of operation, facilities and computing infrastructure needs
have all increased significantly and we expect them to increase in the future. Our rapid growth has placed, and will
continue to place, a significant strain on our management capabilities, administrative and operational infrastructure,
facilities and other resources. If we are unable to anticipate the demands of our growth or effectively manage our
growth, our operating and financial results likely would be harmed.    

Our agreement with salesforce.com imposes significant financial commitments on us which we may not be able to
meet and which could negatively impact our financial results and liquidity in the future.

Our Veeva CRM application, and certain portions of the multichannel customer relationship management applications
that complement our Veeva CRM application, are developed on and/or utilize the Salesforce1 Platform of
salesforce.com, inc. Under our agreement, salesforce.com provides the hosting infrastructure and data center for
portions of our multichannel customer relationship management applications, as well as the system administration,
configuration, reporting and other platform level functionality. In exchange, we pay salesforce.com a fee. Our
agreement with salesforce.com requires that we meet minimum order commitments of $500 million over the term of
the agreement, which ends on September 1, 2025, including “true-up” payments if the orders we place with
salesforce.com have not equaled or exceeded the following aggregate amounts within the timeframes indicated:
(i) $250 million from March 1, 2014 to September 1, 2020 and (ii) the full amount of $500 million by September 1,
2025. If we are not able to meet the minimum order commitments, the required true-up payments will negatively
impact our margins, cash flows, cash balance and financial condition, and our stock price may decline.

Substantially all of our revenues are generated by sales to customers in the life sciences industry, and factors that
adversely affect this industry, including mergers within the life sciences industry, could also adversely affect us.

Substantially all of our sales are to customers in the life sciences industry. Demand for our solutions could be affected
by factors that adversely affect the life sciences industry, including:

·The consolidation of companies or bankruptcies within the life sciences industry—Consolidation within the life
sciences industry has accelerated in recent years, and this trend could continue. We may lose customers due to
industry consolidation, and we may not be able to expand sales of our solutions and services to new customers to
replace lost customers. In addition, new companies that result from such consolidation may decide that our solutions
are no longer needed because of their own internal processes or the use of alternative solutions. As these entities
consolidate, competition to provide solutions and services to industry participants will become more intense and the
importance of establishing relationships with large industry participants will become greater. These industry
participants may try to use their market power to negotiate price reductions for our solutions. Also, if consolidation
of larger current customers occurs, the combined company may represent a larger percentage of business for us and,
as a result, we are likely to rely more significantly on the combined company’s revenues to continue to achieve
growth. Mergers of large life sciences companies have also been discussed which, if consummated, would have the
potential to reduce per unit pricing for our solutions for the merged companies, or to reduce demand for one or more
of our solutions as a result of potential personnel reductions over time. Additionally, our customers with potential
treatments in clinical trials may be unsuccessful and may subsequently declare bankruptcy.

·The changing regulatory environment of the life sciences industry—Changes in regulations could require us to expend
significant resources in order to ensure that our solutions continue to meet the compliance needs of our customers or
could prevent our customers from using certain of our solutions or certain functionality of our solutions.

·
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Changes in market conditions and practices within the life sciences industry—The expiration of key patents, changes in
the practices of prescribing healthcare professionals, changes with respect to payer relationships, the policies and
preferences of healthcare professionals and healthcare organizations with respect to the sales and marketing efforts
of life sciences companies, changes in the regulation of the sales and marketing efforts and pricing practices of life
sciences companies, and other factors could lead to a significant reduction in sales representatives that use our
solutions or otherwise change the demand for our solutions. Changes in public perception regarding the practices of
the life sciences industry may result in political pressure to increase the regulation of life sciences companies in one
or more of the areas described above, which may negatively impact demand for our solutions.

·Changes in global economic conditions and changes in the global availability of healthcare treatments provided by
the life sciences companies to which we sell—Our business depends on the overall economic health of our existing and
prospective customers. The purchase of our solutions may involve a significant commitment of capital and other
resources. If economic conditions, including the ability to market life sciences products in key markets or the
demand for life sciences products globally deteriorates, many of our customers may delay or reduce their IT
spending. This could result in
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reductions in sales of our solutions, longer sales cycles, reductions in subscription duration and value, slower
adoption of new technologies and increased price competition.  

Accordingly, our operating results and our ability to efficiently provide our solutions to life sciences companies and to
grow or maintain our customer base could be adversely affected as a result of factors that affect the life sciences
industry generally.

If the third-party providers of healthcare reference data and prescription drug sales data do not allow our customers to
upload and use such data in our solutions, our business may be negatively impacted.

Many of our customers license healthcare professional and healthcare organization data and data regarding the sales of
prescription drugs from third parties such as IMS. In order for our customers to upload such data to the Veeva CRM
and Veeva Network Customer Master solutions, such third-party data providers typically must consent to such
uploads and often require that we enter into agreements regarding our obligations with respect to such data, which
include confidentiality obligations and intellectual property rights with respect to such third-party data. We have
experienced delays and difficulties in our negotiations with such third-party data providers in the past and we expect
to experience difficulties in the future. For instance, IMS currently will not consent to its healthcare professional or
healthcare organization data being uploaded to Veeva Network Customer Master. If such third-party data providers do
not consent to the uploading and use of their data in our solutions, delay consent or fail to offer reasonable conditions
for the upload and use of such data in our solutions, our sales efforts, solution implementations and productive use of
our solutions by customers may be harmed, and, in turn, our business may be negatively impacted.  

Our solutions address heavily regulated functions within the life sciences industry, and failure to comply with
applicable laws and regulations could lessen the demand for our solutions or subject us to significant claims and
losses.

Our customers use our solutions for business activities that are subject to a complex regime of global laws and
regulations, including requirements for maintenance of electronic records and electronic signatures (as set forth in 21
CFR Part 11, EU GMP Annex 11, and Japan PFSB 0401022), requirements regarding drug sample tracking and
distribution (as set forth in 21 CFR Part 203, EU Directive 201/83/EC Article 96), and other laws and regulations. Our
solutions are expected to be capable of use by our customers in compliance with such laws and regulations. Our
efforts to provide solutions that comply with such laws and regulations are time-consuming and costly, and include
validation procedures that may delay the release of new versions of our solutions. As these laws and regulations
change over time, we may find it difficult to adjust our solutions to comply with such changes. In addition, as we
increase the number of products we offer, the complexity of adjusting our solutions to comply with legal and
regulatory changes will increase. If we are unable to effectively manage this increase or if we are not able to provide
solutions that can be used in compliance with applicable laws and regulations, customers may be unwilling to use our
solutions and any such non-compliance could result in the termination of our customer agreements or claims arising
from such agreements with our customers.

Additionally, any failure of our customers to comply with laws and regulations applicable to the functions for which
our solutions are used could result in fines, penalties or claims for substantial damages against our customers that may
harm our business or reputation. If such failure were allegedly caused by our solutions or services, our customers may
make a claim for damages against us, regardless of our responsibility for the failure. We may be subject to lawsuits
that, even if unsuccessful, could divert our resources and our management’s attention and adversely affect our
business, and our insurance coverage may not be sufficient to cover such claims against us.

Our sales cycles can be long and unpredictable, and our sales efforts require considerable investment of time and
expense. If our sales cycle lengthens or we invest substantial resources pursuing unsuccessful sales opportunities, our
operating results and growth would be harmed.
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Our sales process entails planning discussions with prospective customers, analyzing their existing solutions and
identifying how these potential customers can use and benefit from our solutions. The sales cycle for a new customer,
from the time of prospect qualification to the completion of the first sale, may span over 12 months or longer. In
particular, we have limited history selling to the research and development departments of life sciences companies, yet
many of our newer solutions, including certain Veeva Vault applications, were developed to target the research and
development function. As a result, our sales cycle for these solutions may be lengthy and difficult to predict. We
spend substantial time, effort and money in our sales efforts without any assurance that our efforts will result in the
sale of our solutions. In addition, our sales cycle can vary substantially from customer to customer because of various
factors, including the discretionary nature of potential customers’ purchasing and budget decisions, the announcement
or planned introduction of new solutions by us or our competitors and the purchasing approval processes of potential
customers. If our sales cycle lengthens or we invest substantial resources pursuing unsuccessful sales opportunities,
our operating results and growth would be harmed.

44

Edgar Filing: VEEVA SYSTEMS INC - Form 10-Q

88



Catastrophic events could disrupt our business and adversely affect our operating results.

Our corporate headquarters are located in Pleasanton, California and our third-party hosted data centers are located in
the United States, the European Union and Japan. The west coast of the United States and Japan each contains active
earthquake zones. Additionally, we rely on our network and third-party infrastructure and enterprise applications,
internal technology systems and our website for our development, marketing, operational support, hosted services and
sales activities. In the event of a major earthquake, hurricane or catastrophic event such as fire, power loss,
telecommunications failure, cyber-attack, war or terrorist attack, we may be unable to continue our operations and
may endure system interruptions, reputational harm, delays in our solution development, lengthy interruptions in our
services, breaches of data security and loss of critical data, all of which could have an adverse effect on our future
operating results.

Because key and substantial portions of our multichannel customer relationship management applications are built on
salesforce.com’s Salesforce1 Platform, we are dependent upon our agreement with salesforce.com to provide these
solutions to our customers.

Our Veeva CRM application and certain portions of the multichannel customer relationship management applications
that complement our Veeva CRM application are developed on or utilize the Salesforce1 Platform of salesforce.com,
inc., and we rely on our agreement with salesforce.com to continue to use the Salesforce1 Platform as combined with
the proprietary aspects of our multichannel customer relationship management applications.

Our agreement with salesforce.com expires on September 1, 2025. However, salesforce.com has the right to terminate
the agreement in certain circumstances, including in the event of a material breach of the agreement by us, or that
salesforce.com is subjected to third-party intellectual property infringement claims based on our solutions (except to
the extent based on the Salesforce1 Platform) or our trademarks and we do not remedy such infringement in
accordance with the agreement. Also, if we are acquired by specified companies, salesforce.com may terminate the
agreement upon notice of not less than 12 months. If salesforce.com terminates our agreement under these
circumstances, our customers will be unable to access Veeva CRM and certain other of our multichannel customer
relationship management applications. A termination of the agreement would cause us to incur significant time and
expense to acquire rights to, or develop, a replacement customer relationship management platform and we may not
be successful in these efforts. Even if we were to successfully acquire or develop a replacement customer relationship
management platform, some customers may decide not to adopt the replacement platform and may decide to use a
different customer relationship management solution. If we were unsuccessful in acquiring or developing a
replacement customer relationship management platform or acquired or developed a replacement customer
relationship management platform that our customers do not adopt, our business, operating results and brand may be
adversely affected.

Also, if either party elects not to renew the agreement at the end of its September 1, 2025 term or if the agreement is
terminated by us as a result of salesforce.com’s breach, the agreement provides for a five-year wind-down period in
which we would be able to continue providing the Salesforce1 Platform as combined with the proprietary aspects of
our solutions to our existing customers but would be limited with respect to the number of additional subscriptions we
could sell to our existing customers. After the wind-down period, we would no longer be able to use the Salesforce1
Platform.

Our agreement with salesforce.com provides that we can use the Salesforce1 Platform as combined with our
proprietary Veeva CRM application to sell sales automation solutions only to drug makers in the pharmaceutical and
biotechnology industries for human and animal treatments, which does not include the medical devices industry or
products for non-drug departments of pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies. Sales of the Salesforce1 Platform
in combination with our Veeva CRM application to additional industries would require the review and approval of
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salesforce.com. Our inability to freely sell our Veeva CRM application outside of drug makers in the pharmaceutical
and biotechnology industries may adversely impact our growth.

While our agreement with salesforce.com, subject to certain exceptions, provides that salesforce.com will not position,
develop, promote, invest in or acquire applications directly competitive to the Veeva CRM application for sales
automation that directly target drug makers in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industry, or the pharma/biotech
industry, our remedy for a breach of this commitment by salesforce.com would be to terminate the agreement, or
continue the agreement but be released from our minimum order commitments from the date of salesforce.com’s
breach forward. While our agreement with salesforce.com also restricts salesforce.com from competing with us with
respect to sales opportunities for sales automation solutions for the pharma/biotech industry unless such competition
has been pre-approved by salesforce.com’s senior management based on certain criteria specified in the agreement, and
imposes certain limits on salesforce.com from entering into arrangements similar to ours with other parties with
respect to sales automation applications for the pharma/biotech industry, it does not restrict a salesforce.com
customer’s ability (or the ability of salesforce.com on behalf of a specific salesforce.com customer) to customize or
configure the Salesforce1 Platform. Some current or potential customers of ours may choose to build custom solutions
using the Salesforce1 Platform rather than buying our solutions.
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We employ third-party licensed software and software components for use in or with our solutions, and the inability to
maintain these licenses or the presence of errors in the software we license could limit the functionality of our
products and result in increased costs or reduced service levels, which would adversely affect our business.

In addition to our employment of the Salesforce1 Platform through our agreement with salesforce.com, our solutions
incorporate or utilize certain third-party software and software components obtained under licenses from other
companies. We anticipate that we will continue to rely on such third-party software and development tools from third
parties in the future. Although we believe that there are commercially reasonable alternatives to the third-party
software we currently license, this may not always be the case, or it may be difficult or costly to replace. Our use of
additional or alternative third-party software would require us to enter into license agreements with third parties. In
addition, if the third-party software we utilize has errors or otherwise malfunctions, the functionality of our solutions
may be negatively impacted and our business may suffer.  

Our growth depends in part on the success of our relationships with third parties.

In order to grow our business, we anticipate that we will continue to depend on relationships with third parties, such as
deployment partners, and technology and content providers. Identifying partners, and negotiating and documenting
relationships with them, requires significant time and resources. Our competitors may be effective in providing
incentives to third parties to favor their products or services or to prevent or reduce subscriptions to our services. In
addition, acquisitions of our partners by our competitors could result in a decrease in the number of our current and
potential customers, as our partners may no longer facilitate the adoption of our solutions by potential customers. If
we are unsuccessful in establishing or maintaining our relationships with third parties, our ability to compete in the
marketplace or to grow our revenues could be impaired and our operating results may suffer. Even if we are
successful, we cannot assure you that these relationships will result in increased customer usage of our solutions or
increased revenues.

Increasingly complex data protection and privacy regulations are burdensome, may reduce demand for our solutions,
and non-compliance may impose significant liabilities

Our customers can use our solutions to collect, use, process and store personal data or identifying information
regarding their employees and the medical professionals with whom our customers have contact, and, potentially,
personal data (including potentially sensitive data such as health information) regarding patients maintained by our
customers pursuant to clinical, operational or compliance processes. In this capacity, we act as the data processor.
We also collect and sell a database, via our OpenData and KOL Data product lines, for which we are the data
controller. In many countries, national and local governmental bodies have adopted, are considering adopting, or may
adopt laws and regulations regarding the collection, use, processing, storage and disclosure of personal information
obtained from individuals, making compliance a complex task.

In the United States, for instance, the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services promulgated patient privacy
rules under the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) of 1996, that protect medical records
and other personal health information by limiting their use and disclosure, giving individuals the right to access,
amend, and seek accounting of their own health information and limiting most use and disclosures of health
information to the minimum amount reasonably necessary to accomplish the intended purposes. Operating under one
of the world's strictest data privacy regimes, Veeva is a registered Data Controller and Data Processor under EU Data
Protection Directive 95/46/EC and is in the process of preparing its readiness under the General Data Protection
Regulation (GDPR) reform, which will enter into force on May 25, 2018. While we were previously self-certified on
an annual basis under the now invalid EU-U.S. and Swiss-U.S. Safe Harbor frameworks, we routinely utilize the EU
Standard Contractual Clauses, often also referred to as Model Clauses, to ensure that our European customers have
adequate assurance of our technical and organization controls on privacy, although this legal mechanism is currently
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under review by the European Court of Justice. In parallel, we monitor developments of the EU-U.S. Privacy Shield in
order to consider this political agreement as another means to legally facilitate international data transfers.  Finally,
there is also a trend toward countries enacting data localization requirements which are not particularly compatible
with the cloud computing model. For example, Russia's localization law (Federal Law No. 242-FZ) requires that the
source of data for Russian nationals collected on Russian territory must be stored in Russia.

Customers expect that our solutions can be used in compliance with such laws and regulations. The functional and
operational requirements and costs of compliance with such laws and regulations may adversely impact our business,
and failure to enable our solutions to comply with such laws and regulations could lead to significant fines and
penalties imposed by regulators, as well as claims by our customers or third parties. Additionally, all of these domestic
and international legislative and regulatory initiatives could adversely affect our customers’ ability or desire to collect,
use, process and store personal or health-related information using our solutions or to license data products from us,
which could reduce demand for our solutions.
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The software industry changes rapidly as a result of technological and product developments, which may render our
solutions less desirable. If we are unable or unsuccessful in enhancing our solutions in response to technological
developments, our revenues and operating results could be adversely affected.

The software industry is subject to rapid technological change. The introduction of new technologies in the software
industry, including mobile technologies, will continue to have a significant effect on competitive conditions in the life
sciences industry. We may not be able to develop and introduce new solutions and enhancements to our existing
solutions that respond to technological changes on a timely basis. If we are unable to develop and sell new solutions
that provide utility to our customers and provide enhancements and new features for our existing solutions that keep
pace with rapid technological and regulatory change, our revenues and operating results could be adversely affected.

Deferred revenue and change in deferred revenue may not be an accurate indicator of our future financial results.

Our subscription orders are generally billed beginning at the subscription commencement date in annual or quarterly
increments. Many of our customers, including many of our large customers, are billed on a quarterly basis and
therefore a substantial portion of the value of contracts billed on a quarterly basis will not be reflected in our deferred
revenue at the end of any given quarter. Also, because the terms of orders for additional users or solutions are
typically co-terminus with the anniversary date of the initial order for a related solution, the terms of such orders for
additional users or solutions can be for relatively short periods of time, often less than one year, and payment terms
may also be quarterly. Therefore, the annualized value of such orders that we enter into with our customers will not be
completely reflected in deferred revenue at any single point in time. We have also agreed from time to time and may
agree in the future to allow customers to change the renewal dates of their orders to, for example, align more closely
with a customer’s annual budget process or to align with the renewal dates of other orders placed by other entities
within the same corporate control group. Such changes typically result in an order of less than one year as necessary to
align all orders to the desired renewal date and, thus, may result in a lesser increase to deferred revenue than if the
renewal date adjustment had not occurred. Accordingly, we do not believe that change in deferred revenue or
calculated billings, a metric commonly cited by financial analysts that is the sum of the change in deferred revenue
plus revenue, are accurate indicators of future revenues for any given period of time. However, many companies that
provide cloud-based software report changes in deferred revenue or calculated billings as key operating or financial
metrics, and it is possible that analysts or investors may view these metric as important. Thus, any changes in our
deferred revenue balances or deferred revenue trends could adversely affect the market price of our Class A common
stock.

Because we recognize subscription services revenues ratably over the term of the order for our subscription services, a
significant downturn in our business may not be reflected immediately in our operating results, which increases the
difficulty of evaluating our future financial performance.

We generally recognize subscription services revenues ratably over the term of an order under our subscription
agreements. As a result, a substantial majority of our quarterly subscription services revenues are generated from
subscription agreements entered into during prior periods. Consequently, a decline in new subscriptions in any quarter
may not affect our results of operations in that quarter, but could reduce our revenues in future quarters. Additionally,
the timing of renewals or non-renewals of a subscription agreement during any quarter may only affect our financial
performance in future quarters. For example, the non-renewal of a subscription agreement late in a quarter will have
minimal impact on revenues for that quarter but will reduce our revenues in future quarters. Accordingly, the effect of
significant declines in sales and customer acceptance of our solutions may not be reflected in our short-term results of
operations, which would make these reported results less indicative of our future financial results. By contrast, a
non-renewal occurring early in a quarter may have a significant negative impact on revenues for that quarter and we
may not be able to offset a decline in revenues due to non-renewal with revenues from new subscription agreements
entered into in the same quarter. In addition, we may be unable to adjust our costs in response to reduced revenues.
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Sales to customers outside the United States or with international operations expose us to risks inherent in
international sales.

In our fiscal quarter ended April 30, 2016, sales to customers outside North America, as measured by the estimated
location of the end users for subscription services revenues and the estimated location of the end users for which the
services were performed for professional services revenues, accounted for approximately 45% of our total revenues. A
key element of our growth strategy is to further expand our international operations and worldwide customer base.
Operating in international markets requires significant resources and management attention and subjects us to
regulatory, economic and political risks that are different from those in the United States. We have limited operating
experience in some international markets, and we cannot assure you that our expansion efforts into other international
markets will be successful. Our experience in the United States and other international markets in which we already
have a presence may not be relevant to our ability to expand in other emerging markets. Our international expansion
efforts may not be successful in creating further demand for our solutions outside of the United States or in effectively
selling our solutions in the international markets we enter. In addition, we face risks in doing business internationally
that could adversely affect our business, including:

· the need and expense to localize and adapt our solutions for specific countries, including translation into foreign
languages, and ensuring that our solutions enable our customers to comply with local life sciences industry laws and
regulations;

·data privacy laws which require that customer data be stored and processed in a designated territory;
·difficulties in staffing and managing foreign operations, including employee laws and regulations;
·different pricing environments, longer sales cycles and longer accounts receivable payment cycles and collections
issues;

·new and different sources of competition;
·weaker protection for intellectual property and other legal rights than in the United States and practical difficulties in
enforcing intellectual property and other rights outside of the United States;

· laws and business practices favoring local competitors;
·compliance challenges related to the complexity of multiple, conflicting and changing governmental laws and
regulations, including employment, tax, privacy and data protection, and anti-bribery laws and regulations;

· increased financial accounting and reporting burdens and complexities;
·restrictions on the transfer of funds;
·our ability to repatriate funds from abroad without adverse tax consequences;
·adverse tax consequences, including the potential for required withholding taxes; and
·unstable regional and economic political conditions.

Some of our business partners also have international operations and are subject to the risks described above. Even if
we are able to successfully manage the risks of international operations, our business may be adversely affected if our
business partners are not able to successfully manage these risks, which could adversely affect our business.

We are subject to governmental export and import controls that could impair our ability to compete in international
markets or subject us to liability if we violate the controls.

Our products are subject to U.S. export controls, including the U.S. economic sanctions laws and regulations that
prohibit the shipment of certain products and services without the required export authorizations or export to
countries, governments, and persons targeted by U.S. sanctions. While we take precautions to prevent our products
and services from being exported in violation of these laws, we cannot guarantee that the precautions we take will
prevent violations of export control and sanctions laws. Violations of U.S. sanctions or export control laws can result
in fines or penalties. In the event of criminal knowing and willful violations of these laws, fines and possible
incarceration for responsible employees and managers could be imposed.

Edgar Filing: VEEVA SYSTEMS INC - Form 10-Q

95



Currency exchange fluctuations may negatively impact our financial results.

Some of our international agreements provide for payment denominated in local currencies, and the majority of our
local costs are denominated in local currencies. As we continue to expand our operations in countries outside the
United States, an increasing proportion of our revenues and expenditures in the future may be denominated in foreign
currencies. Fluctuations in the value of the U.S. dollar and foreign currencies may impact our operating results when
translated into U.S. dollars. Thus, our results of operations and cash flows are subject to fluctuations due to changes in
foreign currency exchange rates, particularly changes in the Euro, British Pound Sterling, Japanese Yen and Chinese
Yuan. Changes in exchange rates may negatively affect our revenues and other operating
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results as expressed in U.S. dollars in the future. Further, we have experienced and will continue to experience
fluctuations in our net income as a result of transaction gains or losses related to revaluing certain current asset and
current liability balances that are denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the entities in which
they are recorded.

While we have not engaged in the hedging of our foreign currency transactions to date, we are currently evaluating the
costs and benefits of initiating such a program and may, in the future, hedge selected significant transactions or net
monetary exposure positions denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar.

If we lose the services of our founder and Chief Executive Officer or other members of our senior management team,
we may not be able to execute our business strategy.

Our success depends in a large part upon the continued service of our senior management team. In particular, our
founder and Chief Executive Officer, Peter P. Gassner, is critical to our vision, strategic direction, culture, products
and technology. We do not maintain key-man insurance for Mr. Gassner or any other member of our senior
management team. We do not have employment agreements with members of our senior management team or other
key personnel that require them to continue to work for us for any specified period and, therefore, they could
terminate their employment with us at any time. The loss of our founder and Chief Executive Officer or one or more
other members of our senior management team could have an adverse effect on our business.

Failure to adequately expand our sales and marketing teams and capabilities will impede our growth.

We will need to continue to expand and optimize our sales and marketing infrastructure in order to grow our customer
base and our business. We plan to continue to expand our sales and marketing teams, both domestically and
internationally. Identifying and recruiting qualified personnel and training them in the use of our software requires
significant time, expense and attention. It can take six to nine months or longer before our sales representatives are
fully trained and productive. Our business may be adversely affected if our efforts to expand and train our sales and
marketing teams do not generate a corresponding increase in revenues. In particular, if we are unable to hire, develop
and retain talented sales or marketing personnel or if new direct sales personnel are unable to achieve desired
productivity levels in a reasonable period of time, we may not be able to realize the expected benefits of this
investment or increase our revenues.

Our business could be adversely affected if our customers are not satisfied with the professional services provided by
us or our partners, or with our technical support services.

Our business depends on our ability to satisfy our customers, both with respect to our solutions and the professional
services that are performed in connection with the implementation of our solutions. Professional services may be
performed by us, by a third party, or by a combination of the two. If a customer is not satisfied with the quality of
work performed by us or a third party or with the solutions delivered or professional services rendered, then we could
incur additional costs to address the situation, we may be required to issue credits or refunds for pre-paid amounts
related to unused services, the profitability of that work might be impaired and the customer’s dissatisfaction with our
services could damage our ability to expand the number of solutions subscribed to by that customer. Moreover,
negative publicity related to our customer relationships, regardless of its accuracy, may further damage our business
by affecting our ability to compete for new business with current and prospective customers.

Once our solutions are deployed, our customers depend on our support organization to resolve technical issues relating
to our solutions. We may be unable to respond quickly enough to accommodate short-term increases in customer
demand for technical support services. Increased customer demand for our services, without corresponding revenues,
could increase costs and adversely affect our operating results. In addition, our sales process is highly dependent on
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the reputation of our solutions and business and on positive recommendations from our existing customers. Any
failure to maintain high-quality technical support, or a market perception that we do not maintain high-quality support,
could adversely affect our reputation, our ability to sell our solutions to existing and prospective customers and our
business and operating results.

Any failure to protect our intellectual property rights could impair our ability to protect our proprietary technology and
our brand.

Our success and ability to compete depend in part upon our intellectual property. We have filed applications for a
number of patents, but, to date, we have only three issued patents. We currently rely primarily on copyright, trade
secret and trademark laws, trade secret protection and confidentiality or license agreements with our employees,
customers, partners and others to protect our intellectual property rights. However, the steps we take to protect our
intellectual property rights may be inadequate.

In order to protect our intellectual property rights, we may be required to spend significant resources to monitor and
protect these rights. Litigation brought to protect and enforce our intellectual property rights could be costly,
time-consuming and distracting
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to management and could result in the impairment or loss of portions of our intellectual property. Furthermore, our
efforts to enforce our intellectual property rights may be met with defenses, counterclaims and countersuits attacking
the validity and enforceability of our intellectual property rights. Negative publicity related to a decision by us to
initiate such enforcement actions against a customer or former customer, regardless of its accuracy, may adversely
impact our other customer relationships or prospective customer relationships, harm our brand and business and could
cause the market price of our Class A common stock to decline. Our failure to secure, protect and enforce our
intellectual property rights could adversely affect our brand and our business.

We may be sued by third parties for alleged infringement of their proprietary rights.

There is considerable patent and other intellectual property development activity in our industry. Our competitors, as
well as a number of other entities and individuals, including so-called non-practicing entities, or NPEs, may own or
claim to own intellectual property relating to our solutions. From time to time, third parties may claim that we are
infringing upon their intellectual property rights, and we may be found to be infringing upon such rights. For example,
from August 2013 to November 2014, we were a defendant in a lawsuit filed by Prolifiq Software, Inc. (Prolifiq) in
which Prolifiq alleged patent infringement and trade secret misappropriation. The Prolifiq lawsuit was settled in
November 2014, and involved a payment to Prolifiq by us in exchange for a license to certain asserted patents. We are
also currently responding to a letter from an NPE asserting patent infringement. In the future, we expect others to
claim that our solutions and underlying technology infringe or violate their intellectual property rights. We may be
unaware of the intellectual property rights that others may claim cover some or all of our technology or services. Any
claims or litigation could cause us to incur significant expenses and, if successfully asserted against us, could require
that we pay substantial damages or ongoing royalty payments, prevent us from offering our services, or require that
we comply with other unfavorable terms. We may also be obligated to indemnify our customers or business partners
or pay substantial settlement costs, including royalty payments, in connection with any such claim or litigation and to
obtain licenses, modify applications or refund fees, which could be costly. Even if we were to prevail in such a
dispute, any litigation regarding our intellectual property could be costly and time-consuming and divert the attention
of our management and key personnel from our business operations.

If we fail to develop widespread brand awareness cost-effectively, our business may suffer.

We believe that developing and maintaining widespread awareness of our brand in a cost-effective manner is critical
to achieving widespread acceptance of our solutions, attracting new customers, and generating and maintaining
profitability. Brand promotion activities may not generate customer awareness or increase revenues, and even if they
do, any increase in revenues may not offset the expenses we incur in building our brand. If we fail to successfully
promote and maintain our brand, or incur substantial expenses, we may fail to attract or retain customers necessary to
realize a sufficient return on our brand-building efforts, or to achieve the widespread brand awareness that is critical
for broad customer adoption of our solutions.

Our solutions utilize open source software, and any failure to comply with the terms of one or more of these open
source licenses could adversely affect our business.

Our solutions include software covered by open source licenses. The terms of various open source licenses have not
been interpreted by U.S. courts, and there is a risk that such licenses could be construed in a manner that imposes
unanticipated conditions or restrictions on our ability to market our solutions. By the terms of certain open source
licenses, we could be required to release the source code of our proprietary software, and to make our proprietary
software available under open source licenses, if we combine our proprietary software with open source software in a
certain manner. In the event that portions of our proprietary software are determined to be subject to an open source
license, we could be required to publicly release the affected portions of our source code, re-engineer all or a portion
of our solutions, or otherwise be limited in the licensing of our solutions, each of which could reduce or eliminate the
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value of our solutions and services. In addition to risks related to license requirements, usage of open source software
can lead to greater risks than use of third-party commercial software, as open source licensors generally do not
provide warranties or controls on the origin of the software. Many of the risks associated with usage of open source
software cannot be eliminated and could adversely affect our business.

Our estimate of the market size for our solutions we have provided publicly may prove to be inaccurate, and even if
the market size is accurate, we cannot assure you our business will serve a significant portion of the market.

Our estimate of the market size for our solutions we have provided publicly, sometimes referred to as total addressable
market or TAM, is subject to significant uncertainty and is based on assumptions and estimates, including our internal
analysis and industry experience, which may not prove to be accurate. These estimates are, in part, based upon the size
of the general application areas in which our solutions are targeted. Our ability to serve a significant portion of this
estimated market is subject to many factors, including our success in implementing our business strategy, which is
subject to many risks and uncertainties. For example, in order to address the entire TAM we have identified, we must
continue to enhance and add functionality to our existing solutions and introduce
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new solutions. Accordingly, even if our estimate of the market size is accurate, we cannot assure you that our business
will serve a significant portion of this estimated market for our solutions.

If we are unable to implement and maintain effective internal controls over financial reporting, investors may lose
confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports and the market price of our Class A common
stock could be adversely affected.

As a public company, we are required to maintain internal controls over financial reporting and to report any material
weaknesses in such internal controls. Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (Sarbanes-Oxley Act) requires
that we evaluate and determine the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting and provide a
management report on internal controls over financial reporting. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act also requires that our
management report on internal controls over financial reporting be attested to by our independent registered public
accounting firm.

During our assessment of internal control over financial reporting as of January 31, 2016, we identified a material
weakness in the internal controls related to our review of the inputs to the valuation of acquired intangible assets. We
are working to remediate the material weakness. For more information about the material weakness and our
remediation efforts, see Part I, Item 4. “Controls and Procedures.” Although we plan to complete this remediation
process as quickly as possible, we cannot at this time estimate how long it will take, and our efforts may not be
successful in remediating the material weakness. As part of the remediation process, we may incur additional costs in
improving our internal control over financial reporting.

Many of the internal controls we have implemented pursuant to the Sarbanes-Oxley Act are process controls with
respect to which a material weakness may be found whether or not any error has been identified in our reported
financial statements. This may be confusing to investors and result in damage to our reputation, which may harm our
business. Additionally, the proper design and assessment of internal controls over financial reporting are subject to
varying interpretations, and, as a result, application in practice may evolve over time as new guidance is provided by
regulatory and governing bodies and as common practices evolve. This could result in continuing uncertainty
regarding the proper design and assessment of internal controls over financial reporting and higher costs necessitated
by ongoing revisions to internal controls.

We must continue to monitor and assess our internal control over financial reporting. If we are unable to successfully
remediate the material weakness previously identified and we undertake another future material acquisition, we may
not detect errors on a timely basis and our financial statements may be materially misstated. If in the future we have
additional material weaknesses, we may not detect errors on a timely basis and our financial statements may be
materially misstated. If we are unable to successfully remediate the material weakness previously identified or if in the
future we identify additional material weaknesses in our internal controls over financial reporting, are unable to
comply with the requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act in a timely manner, are unable to assert that
our internal controls over financial reporting are effective, or if our independent registered public accounting firm is
unable to express an opinion as to the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting, investors may
lose confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports and the market price of our Class A
common stock could be adversely affected, and we could become subject to investigations by the stock exchange on
which our securities are listed, the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), or other regulatory authorities, which
could require additional financial and management resources.

We have incurred and will continue to incur significantly increased costs and devote substantial management time as a
result of operating as a public company.
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As a public company, we have incurred and will continue to incur significant legal, accounting and other expenses
that we did not incur as a private company. For example, we are subject to the reporting requirements of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (Exchange Act), and are required to comply with the applicable requirements of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, as well as rules and
regulations subsequently implemented by the SEC and the New York Stock Exchange, including the establishment
and maintenance of effective disclosure and financial controls and changes in corporate governance practices.
Compliance with these requirements has increased our legal and financial compliance costs and has made some
activities more time consuming and costly. Our management and other personnel have little experience managing a
public company and preparing public filings. In addition, changing laws, regulations and standards relating to
corporate governance and public disclosure are creating uncertainty for public companies, increasing legal and
financial compliance costs and making some activities more time consuming. These laws, regulations and standards
are subject to varying interpretations, in many cases due to their lack of specificity, and, as a result, their application in
practice may evolve over time as new guidance is provided by regulatory and governing bodies. This could result in
continuing uncertainty regarding compliance matters and higher costs necessitated by ongoing revisions to disclosure
and governance practices. Our management and other personnel may need to divert attention from operational and
other business matters to devote substantial time to these public company requirements. In particular, we are incurring
and expect to incur significant expenses and devote substantial management effort toward ensuring compliance with
the requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, including remediating the material weakness described in
Part 1, Item 4. “Controls and
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Procedures.” Although we have hired additional employees to comply with these requirements, we may need to hire
more accounting, legal and financial staff in the future with appropriate public company experience and technical
accounting knowledge to meet these requirements. We cannot accurately predict or estimate the amount or timing of
additional costs we may incur as a result of becoming a public company. Further, if our efforts to comply with new
laws, regulations and standards differ from the activities intended by regulatory or governing bodies due to
ambiguities related to practice, regulatory authorities may initiate legal proceedings against us and our business may
be harmed.

Additional compensation costs and potential future equity awards may be required to properly compensate our
executives and directors as a result of the personal liability that goes with public company status. Any such costs or
awards will increase our compensation expenses, which would increase our general and administrative expense and
could adversely affect our profitability. We also expect that operating as a public company will make it more difficult
and more expensive for us to obtain director and officer liability insurance on reasonable terms. As a result, it may be
more difficult for us to attract and retain qualified people to serve on our board of directors, our board committees or
as executive officers.

Our international operations subject us to potentially adverse tax consequences.

We report our taxable income in various jurisdictions worldwide based upon our business operations in those
jurisdictions. These jurisdictions include Australia, Brazil, Canada, China, France, Germany, Hungary, India, Israel,
Italy, Japan, Korea, Singapore, Spain, Switzerland, Thailand, Ukraine and the United Kingdom. The international
nature and organization of our business activities are subject to complex transfer pricing regulations administered by
taxing authorities in various jurisdictions. The relevant taxing authorities may disagree with our determinations as to
the income and expenses attributable to specific jurisdictions. If such a disagreement were to occur, and our position
were not sustained, we could be required to pay additional taxes, interest and penalties, which could result in one-time
tax charges, higher effective tax rates, reduced cash flows and lower overall profitability of our operations. We believe
that our financial statements reflect adequate reserves to cover such a contingency, but there can be no assurances in
that regard.

Taxing authorities may successfully assert that we should have collected or in the future should collect sales and use,
value added or similar taxes, and we could be subject to liability with respect to past or future sales, which could
adversely affect our results of operations.

We do not collect sales and use, value added and similar taxes in all jurisdictions in which we have sales, based on our
belief that such taxes are not applicable or that we are not required to collect such taxes with respect to the
jurisdiction. Sales and use, value added and similar tax laws and rates vary greatly by jurisdiction. Certain
jurisdictions in which we do not collect such taxes may assert that such taxes are applicable, which could result in tax
assessments, penalties and interest, and we may be required to collect such taxes in the future. Such tax assessments,
penalties and interest or future requirements may adversely affect our results of operations. We believe that our
financial statements reflect adequate reserves to cover such a contingency, but there can be no assurances in that
regard.

Unanticipated changes in our effective tax rate could harm our future results.

We are subject to income taxes in the United States and various foreign jurisdictions, and our domestic and
international tax liabilities are subject to the allocation of expenses in differing jurisdictions. Forecasting our estimated
annual effective tax rate is complex and subject to uncertainty, and there may be material differences between our
forecasted and actual tax rates. Our effective tax rate could be adversely affected by changes in the mix of earnings
and losses in countries with differing statutory tax rates, certain non-deductible expenses as a result of acquisitions,
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the valuation of deferred tax assets and liabilities, adjustments to income taxes upon finalization of tax
returns, changes in available tax credits, decision to repatriate non-U.S. earnings for which we have not previously
provided for U.S. taxes, and changes in federal, state or international tax laws and accounting principles. In addition,
because substantially all of our intellectual property resides in the United States and is licensed through our parent
U.S. entity, our effective tax rate may be higher than other companies that maintain and license intellectual property
from outside the United States. Increases in our effective tax rate would reduce our profitability or in some cases
increase our losses.

In addition, we may be subject to income tax audits by many tax jurisdictions throughout the world. Although we
believe our income tax liabilities are reasonably estimated and accounted for in accordance with applicable laws and
principles, an adverse resolution of one or more uncertain tax positions in any period could have a material impact on
the results of operations for that period.
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If the market for cloud-based solutions develops more slowly than we expect or declines, our revenues could decrease
and our business could be adversely affected.

The market for cloud-based solutions is not as mature as the market for on-premise enterprise software in the life
sciences industry, and it is uncertain whether cloud-based solutions will achieve and sustain high levels of customer
demand and market acceptance in the life sciences industry. Our success will depend to a substantial extent on the
widespread adoption of cloud-based solutions in the life sciences industry, and of Veeva CRM and the multichannel
customer relationship management applications that complement Veeva CRM, Veeva Vault and Veeva Network in
particular. Many enterprises, and in particular in the life sciences industry, have invested substantial personnel and
financial resources to integrate traditional enterprise software into their businesses, and therefore may be reluctant or
unwilling to migrate to cloud-based solutions. It is difficult to predict customer adoption rates and demand for our
solutions, the future growth rate and size of the cloud computing market or the entry of competitive solutions. The
expansion of cloud-based solutions, particularly in the life sciences industry, depends on a number of factors,
including the cost, performance and perceived value associated with cloud-based solutions, as well as the ability of
providers of cloud-based solutions to address security, privacy and unique regulatory requirements or concerns. If we
or other cloud-based solution providers experience security incidents, loss of customer data, disruptions in delivery or
other problems, the market for cloud-based solutions in the life sciences industry, including our solutions, may be
adversely affected. If cloud-based solutions do not achieve widespread adoption in the life sciences industry, or there
is a reduction in demand for cloud-based solutions caused by a lack of customer acceptance, technological challenges,
weakening economic conditions, security or privacy concerns, competing technologies and products, decreases in
corporate spending or otherwise, our revenues could decrease and our business could be adversely affected.

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Class A Common Stock

Our Class A common stock price has been and will likely continue to be volatile.

The trading price of our Class A common stock has been and will likely continue to be volatile for the foreseeable
future. Since shares of our Class A common stock were sold in our initial public offering in October 2013 at a price of
$20.00 per share, our stock price has ranged from $17.11 to $49.00 through May 27, 2016. In addition, the trading
prices of the securities of technology companies in general have been highly volatile. Accordingly, the market price of
our Class A common stock is likely to be subject to wide fluctuations in response to numerous factors, many of which
are beyond our control, such as those in this “Risk Factors” section and others including:

·fluctuations in the valuation of companies perceived by investors to be comparable to us or in valuation metrics,
such as our price to revenues ratio or price to earnings ratio;

·overall performance of the equity markets;
·variations in our operating results, including revenues, earnings per share, cash flows from operating activities and
other financial metrics and non-financial metrics, and how those results compare to analyst expectations, including
whether those results fail to meet, exceed or significantly exceed analyst expectations;

·forward-looking statements related to our projections of future operating results, including the guidance we give in
our regular earnings releases, changes in our projections of our future operating results or our failure to meet, exceed
or significantly exceed these projections;

· the net increases in the number of customers, either independently or as compared with published expectations of
industry, financial or other analysts that cover us;

· changes in our other financial, operational or other metrics, regardless of whether we regard those as metrics
that reflect the current state of or longer-term prospects of our business;

·changes in the estimates of our operating results or changes in recommendations by securities analysts that elect to
follow our Class A common stock;

·
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announcements of technological innovations, new solutions or enhancements to services, strategic alliances or
significant agreements by us or by our competitors;

·announcements by us or by our competitors of mergers or other strategic acquisitions or rumors of such transactions
involving us or our competitors;

·announcements of customer additions and customer cancellations or delays in customer purchases;
·recruitment or departure of key personnel;
·disruptions in our solutions due to computer hardware, software or network problems, security breaches or other
man-made or natural disasters;
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· the economy as a whole, market conditions in our industry and the industries of our customers; 
· trading activity by a limited number of stockholders who together beneficially own a majority of our outstanding
Class A common stock;

· the operating performance and market value of other similar companies;
·changes in legislation relating to our existing or future solutions;
· litigation or other claims against us;
· the size of our market float; and
·any other factors discussed herein.

In addition, if the market for technology stocks or the stock market in general experiences uneven investor confidence,
the market price of our Class A common stock could decline for reasons unrelated to our business, operating results or
financial condition. The market price of our Class A common stock might also decline in reaction to events that affect
other companies within, or outside, our industry even if these events do not directly affect us. Some companies that
have experienced volatility in the trading price of their stock have been the subject of securities class action litigation.
If we are the subject of such litigation, it could result in substantial costs and a diversion of our management’s attention
and resources.

The dual class structure of our common stock has the effect of concentrating voting control with our executive officers
(including our Chief Executive Officer) and directors and their affiliates; this will limit or preclude the ability of our
investors to influence corporate matters.

Our Class B common stock has ten votes per share, and our Class A common stock has one vote per share. As of April
30, 2016, stockholders who hold shares of Class B common stock, including our executive officers and directors and
their affiliates, together hold approximately 79.8% of the voting power of our outstanding capital stock. Because of
the ten-to-one voting ratio between our Class B common stock and Class A common stock, the holders of our Class B
common stock collectively control a substantial majority of the combined voting power of our common stock and,
assuming no material sales of such shares, will be able to control all matters submitted to our stockholders for
approval until October 15, 2023, including the election of directors, amendments of our organizational documents and
any merger, consolidation, sale of all or substantially all of our assets or other major corporate transaction. This
concentrated control will limit or preclude our investors’ ability to influence corporate matters for the foreseeable
future. In addition, this may prevent or discourage unsolicited acquisition proposals or offers for our capital stock or
may adversely affect the market price of our Class A common stock.

Future transfers by holders of Class B common stock will generally result in those shares converting to Class A
common stock, subject to limited exceptions, such as certain transfers effected for estate planning purposes. The
conversion of Class B common stock to Class A common stock will have the effect, over time, of increasing the
relative voting power of those holders of Class B common stock who retain their shares in the long term. If, for
example, our executive officers (including our Chief Executive Officer), employees, directors and their affiliates
retain a significant portion of their holdings of Class B common stock for an extended period of time, they could, in
the future, continue to control a majority of the combined voting power of our Class A common stock and Class B
common stock.

We have broad discretion in the use of our cash balances and may not use them effectively.

We have broad discretion in the use of our cash balances and may not use them effectively. The failure by our
management to apply these funds effectively could adversely affect our business and financial condition. Pending
their use, we may invest the net proceeds from any future securities offerings in a manner that does not produce
income or that loses value. Our investments may not yield a favorable return to our investors and may negatively
impact the price of our Class A common stock.

Edgar Filing: VEEVA SYSTEMS INC - Form 10-Q

107



We do not intend to pay dividends on our capital stock for the foreseeable future, so any returns will be limited to
changes in the value of our Class A common stock.

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our capital stock. We currently anticipate that we will retain
future earnings for the development, operation and expansion of our business and do not anticipate declaring or
paying any cash dividends for the foreseeable future. In addition, our ability to pay cash dividends on our capital stock
may be prohibited or limited by the terms of any future debt financing arrangement. Any return to stockholders will
therefore be limited to the increase, if any, of the price of our Class A common stock.
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Future sales and issuances of our common stock or rights to purchase common stock, including pursuant to our equity
incentive plans, could result in additional dilution of the percentage ownership of our stockholders and could cause the
stock price of our Class A common stock to decline.

In the future, we may sell common stock, convertible securities or other equity securities in one or more transactions
at prices and in a manner we determine from time to time. We expect to issue securities to employees and directors
pursuant to our equity incentive plans. If we sell common stock, convertible securities or other equity securities in
subsequent transactions, or common stock is issued pursuant to equity incentive plans, our investors may be materially
diluted. New investors in such subsequent transactions could gain rights, preferences and privileges senior to those of
holders of our common stock, including our Class A common.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market, or the perception that they might
occur, could cause the price of our Class A common stock to decline.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our Class A common stock in the public market, or the perception that these
sales might occur, could cause the market price of our Class A common stock to decline or make it more difficult for
you to sell your common stock at a time and price that you deem appropriate and could impair our ability to raise
capital through the sale of additional equity securities. We are unable to predict the effect that sales, or the perception
that our shares may be available for sale, will have on the prevailing market price of our Class A common stock.

In addition, as of April 30, 2016, we had options outstanding that, if fully exercised, would result in the issuance of
additional shares of Class A and Class B common stock. Our Class B common stock converts into Class A common
stock on a one-for-one basis. As of April 30, 2016, we had restricted stock units outstanding which may vest in the
future and result in the issuance of additional shares of Class A common stock. Our unexercised stock options and
unvested restricted stock units, as of April 30, 2016, are described in note 10 of the notes to our condensed
consolidated financial statements. All of the shares of Class A common stock issuable upon the exercise of options (or
upon conversion of shares of Class B common stock issued upon the exercise of options) or upon the vesting of
restricted stock units have been registered for public resale under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the
Securities Act. Accordingly, these shares will be able to be freely sold in the public market upon issuance as permitted
by any applicable vesting requirements.

Certain holders of our Class A and Class B common stock have rights, subject to certain conditions, to require us to
file registration statements for the public resale of such shares (in the case of Class B common stock, the Class A
common stock issuable upon conversion of such shares) or to include such shares in registration statements that we
may file for us or other stockholders. Any sales of securities by these stockholders could have a material adverse
effect on the market price of our Class A common stock.

If securities or industry analysts do not continue to publish research or if they publish inaccurate or unfavorable
research about our business, our stock price and trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our Class A common stock will depend in part on the research and reports that securities or
industry analysts publish about us or our business. If industry analysts cease coverage of us or additional industry
analysts do not initiate coverage of us, the trading price for our Class A common stock may be adversely affected. In
addition, the stock prices of many companies in the high technology industry have declined significantly after those
companies have failed to meet, or often times significantly exceed, the financial guidance publicly announced by the
companies or the expectations of analysts. If our financial results fail to meet (or possibly significantly exceed) our
announced guidance or the expectations of analysts or public investors, analysts could downgrade our common stock
or publish unfavorable research about us. If one or more of the analysts who cover us downgrade our Class A common
stock or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business, our Class A common stock price would likely
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decline. If one or more of these analysts cease coverage of us or fail to publish reports on us regularly, demand for our
Class A common stock could decrease, which might cause our Class A common stock price and trading volume to
decline.

Provisions in our restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws and Delaware law might
discourage, delay or prevent a change in control of our company or changes in our management and, therefore,
depress the market price of our Class A common stock.

Our restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws contain provisions that could depress the
market price of our Class A common stock by acting to discourage, delay or prevent a change in control of our
company or changes in our management that the stockholders of our company may deem advantageous. These
provisions among other things:

·establish a classified board of directors so that not all members of our board are elected at one time;
·provide for a dual class common stock structure, which gives our Chief Executive Officer, directors, executive
officers, greater than 5% stockholders and their respective affiliates the ability to control the outcome of all matters
requiring
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stockholder approval, even if they own significantly less than a majority of the shares of our outstanding Class A and
Class B common stock; 
·permit the board of directors to establish the number of directors;
·provide that directors may only be removed “for cause” and only with the approval of 66 2/3% of our stockholders;
·require super-majority voting to amend some provisions in our restated certificate of incorporation and amended and
restated bylaws;

·authorize the issuance of “blank check” preferred stock that our board of directors could use to implement a
stockholder rights plan;

·eliminate the ability of our stockholders to call special meetings of stockholders;
·prohibit stockholder action by written consent, which requires all stockholder actions to be taken at a meeting of our
stockholders;

·provide that the board of directors is expressly authorized to make, alter or repeal our amended and restated bylaws;
and

·establish advance notice requirements for nominations for election to our board of directors or for proposing matters
that can be acted upon by stockholders at annual stockholder meetings.

In addition, Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law may discourage, delay or prevent a change in
control of our company. Section 203 imposes certain restrictions on merger, business combinations and other
transactions between us and holders of 15% or more of our common stock.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware is
the exclusive forum for substantially all disputes between us and our stockholders, which could limit our stockholders'
ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us or our directors, officers or employees.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware is
the exclusive forum for any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf, any action asserting a breach of
fiduciary duty, any action asserting a claim against us arising pursuant to the Delaware General Corporation Law or
any action asserting a claim against us that is governed by the internal affairs doctrine. This choice of forum provision
may limit a stockholder's ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds favorable for disputes with us or our
directors, officers or other employees and may discourage these types of lawsuits. Alternatively, if a court were to find
the choice of forum provision contained in our certificate of incorporation to be inapplicable or unenforceable in an
action, we may incur additional costs associated with resolving such action in other jurisdictions, which could harm
our business, operating results, and financial condition.
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Item 2.Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds. 
a)Sales of Unregistered Securities

None.

b)Use of Proceeds from Public Offerings of Common Stock
None.

c)Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers
None.

Item 3.Defaults Upon Senior Securities.
None.

Item 4.Mine Safety Disclosures.
Not applicable.

Item 5.Other Information.
None.

57

Edgar Filing: VEEVA SYSTEMS INC - Form 10-Q

112



Item 6.Exhibits.  
Exhibits

Exhibit

Number

Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Description Form File No. Exhibit Filing Date

    2.1 Share Purchase Agreement, dated September 29, 2015, among
Veeva Systems Inc., Veeva U.K. Holdings Limited, Accel-KKR
Structured Capital Partners, LP and the other sellers party thereto.

8-K 001-36121 2.1 10/1/2015

    2.2 Deed of Variation of Share Purchase Agreement, dated May 11,
2016, among Veeva Systems Inc., Veeva U.K. Holdings Limited,
Accel-KKR Structured Capital Partners, LP and the other sellers
party thereto.

    3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Veeva Systems Inc. 8-K 001-36121 3.1 10/22/2013

    3.2 Bylaws of Veeva Systems Inc. S-1/A 333-191085 3.4 10/3/2013

  10.1 Offer letter, dated February 20, 2015, between Alan V. Mateo and
the Registrant.

  10.2 Offer letter, dated January 24, 2013, between E. Nitsa Zuppas and
the Registrant.

  31.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer Required Under Rule
13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended.

  31.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer Required Under Rule
13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended.

  32.1† Certification of Chief Executive Officer Required Under Rule
13a-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended,
and 18 U.S.C. §1350.
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  32.2† Certification of Chief Financial Officer Required Under Rule
13a-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended,
and 18 U.S.C. §1350.

101.INS XBRL Instance Document.

101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Schema Linkbase Document.

101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Calculation Linkbase Document.

101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Definition Linkbase Document.

101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Labels Linkbase Document.

101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Presentation Linkbase Document.
†The certifications attached as Exhibit 32.1 and 32.2 that accompany this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q are not
deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and are not to be incorporated by reference into any filing
of Veeva Systems Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, whether made before or after the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, irrespective of any general
incorporation language contained in such filing.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the registrant has duly caused this
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned hereunto duly authorized.

Veeva Systems Inc.

By: /s/ TIMOTHY S. CABRAL
Timothy S. Cabral
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Dated: June 8, 2016
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit

Number

Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Description Form File No. Exhibit Filing Date

    2.1 Share Purchase Agreement, dated September 29, 2015, among
Veeva Systems Inc., Veeva U.K. Holdings Limited, Accel-KKR
Structured Capital Partners, LP and the other sellers party thereto.

8-K 001-36121 2.1 10/1/2015

    2.2 Deed of Variation of Share Purchase Agreement, dated May 11,
2016, among Veeva Systems Inc., Veeva U.K. Holdings Limited,
Accel-KKR Structured Capital Partners, LP and the other sellers
party thereto.

    3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Veeva Systems Inc. 8-K 001-36121 3.1 10/22/2013

    3.2 Bylaws of Veeva Systems Inc. S-1/A 333-191085 3.4 10/3/2013

  10.1 Offer letter, dated February 20, 2015, between Alan V. Mateo and
the Registrant.

  10.2 Offer letter, dated January 24, 2013, between E. Nitsa Zuppas and
the Registrant.

  31.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer Required Under Rule
13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended.

  31.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer Required Under Rule
13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended.

  32.1† Certification of Chief Executive Officer Required Under Rule
13a-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended,
and 18 U.S.C. §1350.

  32.2†
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Certification of Chief Financial Officer Required Under Rule
13a-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended,
and 18 U.S.C. §1350.

101.INS XBRL Instance Document.

101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Schema Linkbase Document.

101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Calculation Linkbase Document.

101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Definition Linkbase Document.

101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Labels Linkbase Document.

101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Presentation Linkbase Document.
†The certifications attached as Exhibit 32.1 and 32.2 that accompany this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q are not
deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and are not to be incorporated by reference into any filing
of Veeva Systems Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, whether made before or after the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, irrespective of any general
incorporation language contained in such filing.
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